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PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED

Corporate Directory

PHoSPHAGENICS LimiTeD AUDITORS
B {ABN 32 056 482 403) Ernst 8 Young
8 Exhibition Steet
Boaro oF DirecTors Melbourne Vic 3000 Australia

Associate Professor Andrew Loncelot Vizard

{Chairman and Indepandent Director) AusTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LimiTED

Horry Rosen
{Managing Directar)

Dr lan Grant Pattison
(Chief Operating Officer)

Dr Esra Ogry
(Executive Directar)

Professor John Mills
(Independent Director)

Jonathan Lancelot Addison
(independent Director)

Michael David Preston
(Non-Executive Director)
COMPANY SECRETARY

Mourice Reginald Garbutt

ReGistereD OFFICE

& PrincpaL Business OFFice

Level 2
90 William St

Melbourne Vic 3000 Austrolia

Telephane: 03 9605 5900
Facsimile: 03 9605 5999
www.phosphagenics.com

Email: info@phosphogenics.com

SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare lnvestor Services Pty Ltd

Yarra Fofls
457 Johnston Street

Abbotsford Vic 3067 Australio

The Company’s securities are quoted an the

official fists of the Australian Stock Exchange
timited (ASX). The Company’s ASX Code is

POK and the home exchange in Melboume.

Option code is POHOB.

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS MARKET

The Company's shares are quoted on the
London Stock Exchonge’s Alternative Investment
Market (AIM}. The Company AIM cade is PSG.

AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS

With effect from the 24th of March, 2004,
the Company established o Level 1, American
Depository Receipts (ADR} faciity for frading
on the US Overthe-Counter morket. To view
the ADR website go to: www.marketwaich.com
and enter the ADR ticker symbal PPGNY.

AnnuaL Generat MEETING
Phosphagenics Limited AGM will be held on
Friday 26th fay, 2006, in the RACY Club’s
Boutke Room 1 & 2, Level 2, 501 Bourke St,
Melbourne, commencing at Zpm.

SCEnTIFIC ApvISORY BoArD
Dr Simon West

Professor Angelo Azzi
Professor Frank Ng

Professor Ishwarlo! Jialal
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Chairman’s Report

It hos been o yeor of significant progress and
consolidation for Phosphagenics. In particular, a
series of major research breakthroughs occurred
during 2005, providing compelling svidence thet
Phosphagenics' patented core technologies have
substantio! commercial opportunity in a range of
pharmaceutical morkets.

ResearcH & DevELOPMENT

Research ond  development of our fead
fransdermal carrier, TPM-O1, was particularly
and purposefully rapid in 2005 (hansdermel
delivery is the delivery of drugs through the skin
into the bloodstream). We hroadened our
tronsdermal drug platform delivering compounds
that have never been defivered through the skin
before, such as insulin, pargthyroid hormane
and morphine.

Qur research info tronsdermal delivery of insufin
and morphine will continue at an accelerated
pace with Phose 20 human clinicel trigls ond
Proof of Cancept Phase 1 human insulin clinical
frials scheduled for 2006. Your Directors see
the tronsdermal delivery of insulin os an
especially attractive morket for our fechnology as
there are more than 194 million diabetics
worldwide ond in 2003, globa! scles of
injectable human insulin reached USS4.7 biflion,
thus highlighting the prospecive market for
transdermal insulin dalivery.

It is now crear that TPM-01 offers unigue points
of differentigtion compared to competing
tronsdermal delivery technologies ~ TPM-01
utilises existing natural fransport mechanisms to
“carry” drugs across the skin rather than

PHOSPHAGENICS

distupting the surface of the skin fke other
technologies; TPM-01 has antiinfiommatory
and ontierythema properfies which minimise
skin iritation; TPMOT con provide sustained
transdermal defivery of drugs, ond TPM:01
con deliver both small (e.g. morphine) and
large (e.q. insulin) malacules through the skin,

Your Directors have determined that the route to
matket for Phosphagenics' pharmaceutical
products is through partnering with larger
gharmaceutical companies at the cppropriate
stage in the product's development, so as fo
maximise teturn on the Compony's R&D
investment. Specffically, we aim to capitalise on
our prapriefary fechnology thraugh joining our
resources and development capabilities with
co-development partners or licensees.

To this end, the Company entered into o
development agreement with ALZA Corporation
(ALZA). Under the terms of agreement, ALZA, ¢
Johnson & Johnson compeny and one of the
world's leading drug delivery companies,
will fund test work fo determine the feasibility
of delivering o number of selfnominated
compounds using Phosphagenics' patented
transdermal delivery system, TPM01.

Further commercial orrangements for the
tronsdermal defivery system will be explored
during 2006.

Two other aspects of our pharmaceutical program
deserve  mention research info our
cardiovascular product, APA-01, and the research
into our cancer therapy enhancer, gomma
tocopheryl phosphate (GTP-0805).

Phosphagenics now has solid dote from
two onimal models showing that APA-Q1
has potent beneficial cardiovascular properties.
As o result  of these promising onimal
studies, Phosphagenics will be tesfing
the cholesteroHowering and anti-atherogenic
properties of APA-O1 in humans.

Initial studies with gamma tocopheryl phosphate
in cultured cells have shown that this compound
specifically induces death of cancer cells. Gamma
tocopheryl phosphate is now being assessed os o
platform drug defivery system in combination
with ather onti-cancer drugs, such as Tamoxifen.
It successful, it will mean thet lower doses
of anticoncer drugs will be required, which
moy ovoid or limit the serious side-effects

LrMires

commonly associated with the administration of

such drugs.
PrrsONNEL

During the year, the scientific and commerciol
copacity of the Company wos also strengthened.
At the boord level, Mr Harry Rosen was appointed
as the Managing Director, Dr fan Pattison gs the
{hief Operating Officer and Dr Esta Ogru was
appainted os an Executive Director,

Qur twa research and development groups based
at Monosh University and Brookiyn  hove
increased from 10 to 14 senior scienfists, of
whom eight have been awarded PhDs for
pharmaceutical or chemistry-bosed research and
one OS¢,

Financat

In lare 2005, Phosphugenics raised AUD $11.25
million by way of plocement of approximately
47 million fully pai¢ ordinary shores to overseas
and  domestic institutions, and  other
sophisticated investors, of 24 cents (10 pence)
per share. It is pleasing to nate that the major
recipient of the placement wos Orbis Glabal
Equity Fund. Orbis has some US $8.5 billion
under management, a A rating and o record of
consistently cutperforming the industry overage.
Orbis now hold aobout 11 per cent of
Phosphagenics' shores.

The successful capital raising, combined with the
significant income stream generated from our
nutraceutical division, enabled us to end the year
with cash reserves of obout AUD $13 million.
This allowed us to plon for o occelerated
research pragrom as outlined obove,

This is the first financial repart prepared by
Phosphogenics bused on the new Australion
equivalents to Infernational Financial Reporting
Standards {AIFRS). The adoption of these
palicies leads to some materiaf differences to the
income statement and the balonce sheet
cornpared to the superseded accounting policies.
Same of these policies deserve explanation.

AIFRS requires that the AUD S127 million of
intellectual property (IP) acquired by the
Company thiough the purchase of all outstanding
Vitol Health Sciences’ shares on 31 December,
2004, be subject fo impairment testing.
Independent valuars were engaged to carry out




this valuation and indicated that the overall value
of the 1P ocquired on 31 December, 2004, fad
increased by AUD $68 million to AUD $195
million. It also indicated that although the total
value of the portfoli hed substanfially increased
during the year, some individual potents were
deemed to be impaired by o total of AUD $3.9
million, as the development of the products to
which they were allocated were dsferred. Under
AIFRS, it is only permissible to reduce value
where impairment has occurred and net to
increase the patent value. Consequently, the
Company is not able to report in its financial
statements [P valued ot AUD $195 million;
rather it is required fo reduce the canying value
to AUD $123 milfion.

In oddition, under AIFRS reseorch expenditures
are required ‘o be expensed as they occur. For
the 2005 vear, the Company expensed AUD
$3.1 million in research expenditure. Under the
previous standards, such expenditures were
capitalised with development expenditures.

These two changed accounting freatments
account for AUD S7 million of the AUD $8.5
million losses that we recorded for 2005.

On behalf of my fellow Boord members, |
express my thanks to alf staff of Phosphagenics
for their very considerable and much apprecioted
efforts during the year.

Associate Professor
Andrew Lancelot Vizard
Chairman ond Independent Director
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PHOSPHAGENICS

Managing Director's Report

Phosphagenics achigved significant pragress in
its commercial operations, finoncial position and
R&D advonces in 2005. Qur Chaiman has
provided an overview of the Campany's direction
in bis report and | will address, in greater detail,
specific reos of endeavour,

In 2005, we mode major cdvoncements an the
six years of science ond technologicol R&D. The
highlight was the discovery that our fronsdermal
delivery technology, TPM-01, is capable of
delivering lorge and small molecule drugs, such
as insulin, morphine ond parathyroid hormone,
without the use of injections. If this technology is
demonstrated to work effectively in humans, it
opens up naw horizons that wil teod to extensive
commercial opportunities for the Company,

ResEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Morphine

Phosphagenics’  patented  drug  delivery
technology, TPM-01, achieved o world first by
successfully delivering sustained therapeutic
levels of morphine through humen skin in o
Phase 1 Proof of Concept study.

The study, conducted in 10 heoithy mole
volunteers, showed that therapeutic bload levels
were gchieved within one hour and sustained for
more than 48 hours following a single
administration of TPM-01 - oral morphine
odministration only provides 24 hours of
sustained effect. The marphine formulation,
administered to the upper arm, was well
tolerated with no serious adverse events, such as
redness or inritation of the skin.

A follow up study, conducted later in the year on
18 heoithy volunteers, demonsiroted not only

the reproductibility of the first clinical study, but
also showed an improvement as o consequence
of formulofion optimisation. The next stoge of
development will be o Phase 2a efficacy study in
the second quarter of 2006 at the Royal
Adelaide Hospital.

This marphing research was 50 per cent funded
by o $1.7 million Australion Government
Ausindustry R&D START gront and  helf
by Phosphagenics.

Insulin

Phosphagenics dlso extended the transcermal
delivery system, TPM-01, to deliver lorge
malecules, which culminated in the delivery of
insulin transdermally in rofs.

insulin, ¢ naturally occuriing hormone  thet
reduces the level of glucose in blood, is deliverad
using injections or mare recently vio inhalation -
there is no fransdermal insulin commercially
availoble. The advantage of non-nvasive insulin
defivery through the skin is patient acceptability
ond sustained delivery of the dg over on
extended period of time.

The insulin defivery system will be tested in pigs
in early 2006 os a fingl step prier to human
trials, which ore scheduled to commence in the
second quarter of 2006,

Parathyroid Hormone

Another malecule that has been successfully
defivered using the TPI-0T technology is the
bic-active fragment of humen porathyroid
hormone, which is used in the freotment of
osteoporosis, Like insulin, this hormone is
currently delivered by an injection.

Phosphagenics' TPM-01 transdermal delivery
system is o drug delivery technology that hos
mony proven advoniages. These include,
sustained drug release, reduced side effects by
avoiding plasma drug peaks, improved efficacy
by avoiding plasma drug troughs, improved
patient comolionce and improved delivery infe
the bloodsiream of drugs that wre inactivated
by stomach ocid, gut enzymas or by first pass
liver metabolism.

Heort Disense

Continuing our research inta the prevention of
cordiovoscutar diseass, the Company repraduced
its inifial results in @ secand animal medel during
the yeor that demonstrated the effectiveness of

LIiMITED

our oral product, APAOT, in inhibiting the
progression of heart disease.

We obtained very good results in research
conducted on two recognised animel models
commonly used for assessing research into heart
disease. Under the controf of Professor Azzi of
the University of Bemne, Switzerland, rabbits on o
high-cholesterol diet were shown to have 60 per
cent fawer plague lesions in arferies when
treated with our product, APAO1, compared fo
untreated robbits. Additionally, the treated
rabbits hod o 30 per cent reduction in the
expression of the (0 36 recepfors. These
receptors are responsible for lipid uptoke and
depasition of cholesterol in arferies that
contribute to the formation of plague.

In the second arm of our reseorch ot Monash
University, the lipid lowering and anti-gtherogenic
properties of APA-0T were exominad using Apof
mice — o madel widely accepted for research
in cordiovascular disease. Animals administered
with o daly dose of APAQ} achieved
marked teductions in the plasma LOL cholesterol
and iglyceride levels, 44 per cent ond 51
per cent respectively, compored with the
uniregted onimals.

This second study clso importantly confirmed the
effect of APAOY by reducing arteriol plogue
formation with o 58 per cent prevention being
shown. With the consistency of data indicofing
the positive value of APA-0! in recucing the build
up of plaque in blood vessel walls, which
ultimately is ¢ couse of heart attacks and
strokes, our next stage is fo progress to
linical trigls.

{oncer Theropy

The potential of aur core technologies was
demonsirated during the yeor with our
development of o new derivative of tocopherd,
GTP-0805. This product was tesed in Maloysio
in  recogised cell ling that assesses the effects
of drugs on concer cells. The results showed that
GTP-0805 was highly effective in killing both
prosiate and breast concer cells. Importantly,
unlike many other anti-cancer drugs, GTP-0805
is hormless to normal cells making it o very
benign treatment. The Company is cunenty
testing the effectiveness of GTP-0805 in on
gnimal mode).

CommMERaAL

Income from our established US commercial
partnars, International Specialty Products (ISP)




and  Zilo  Nutraceuticals  (Zile)  was

USS1,256,274 in 2005.

ISP, the US-bused global distributer of
Phosphagenics’ personal core active ingredient,
Vital ET°, produced under contact in Canade, is
widely promoting Vital ET® to the world's leading
persona! care bronds,

Vital ET® is promoted by ISP a5, “a unique
bic-functional complex of tocapheryl phosphate
with activity as ¢ modulater of cellular
inflammation pathwaoys”. When Vital ET® s
delivered to the outer epidermis through topical
formulations it reduces sympfoms in sensitive
skin such a5 redness, imitation, swelling ond
itching. ISP"s.clinical studies have demonstrated
that it is particularly effective in onfi-acne,
onfiaging, anfiwrinkle, wipes, shaving, scalp
and hair fregtments.

A very positive response hus been received by
{SP from both multinational and small companies
as their research hos demonstrated the
effectiveness of Yitl £ in skin care products.
However, the time lag from testing, fo
formultion, to market launch in lorge
companies, is long, which resulted in lower than
anficipoted soles. A substontiol increose in
demand for the product towards the end of the
year indicotes thot customers are increasingly
using Vital ET® in their formulations.

In 2005, several cosmetic products using Vital
ET® were infroduced into the Australion morket.
Most recently, Pharmabrands launched its ACNIL
acne treatment products and exceeded all
sales expectations.

Tilo, hos an exclusive ficence for tocapheryl
phosphate in the US, Canoda and Indonesic, ang
morkets the product os EsterE®. Ulising their
brand marketing model, they have spent milfions
of dollars prometing Ester-£*. This is the madel
which has worked well for its Ester-(® produdt, o
medified version of Yitomin C. Unfounded adverse
press on Vitamin Ein the US has not besn the best
environment to-launch o new Vitamin £ product.

It is recognised that demonstrating the dinical
benefits of our phospharylated form of Vitamin £
will be the driver to buld sofes beyond levels
so for ochieved. As mentioned eatlier, positive
and consistent research from the twa animol
models hos provided o redible base for the
Lompony to progress to human higls. Positive
results from these will support claims for
cardiovascufar health, which should rapidly
fransfate fo increased scles.

ANNUAL REPORT

FINANCGIAL

From a financiel viewpaint there were @ number
of key developmants on which | will elaborats.

In 2005, Collins Stewart Limited (Collins
Stewart) wos oppointed as our Nominated
Braker and Nominated Advisor for our UK listing.
Collins Stewart is o wholly owned subsidiary of
Callins Stewart Tullstt plc, o member of the FTSE
mid 250 Index of the main market of the London
Stock Exchange. Their activities include
institutional and private client stockbroking,
market making, corporate finance, fund
management ond the supply of online financiol
information. They employ some 400 stoff,
operating from offices including Landon, Dublin
and New York,

Significant reports were written by Collins
Stewart and BBY Limited, with technical analysts
ot both firms responding very positively to our
technological advances. Both brokers projected o

significantly higher share price thon that which

prevailed in the marker.

Our shares were actively traded on the London
Stack Exchange's Alternative Investment Market
(AIM) during 2005. As o comparison, there were
68.3 million shares traded on the ASX and 20.2
million traded on AIM.

Phosphagenics made progress with its Level ]
Overthe-Counter (OTC) Depasitary Receipts (DR)
progrom with The Bank of New York. This facility,
which is expected to be operational by the end of
Morch 2006, opens the Company's share
registry to the global investment market - now
US-hased individuals and instifutions will be able
to purchase Phosphagenics' shares for the first
time. The Bonk of New York, which has assets in
excess of USS92 billion, manages nearly fwo-
thirds of the global DR market.

DRs ore created when o broker purchases ¢
company's shares in the local stock market and
delivers them to o local custodion bank, which
then instructs the depositary bank, such as The
Bank of New York, fo issue the DRs.

Ouriook

Looking shead, 2006 will prave to be a yeor that
defines the Company and builds on the excellent
resecrch conducted by our innovative scignfists
dwing 2005. The money raised towords the
end of 2005 wil dlow us. to occelerote our
tesearch infa insulin, morphine and other drug
candidates, such as concer and heart disease.

~1

While the Compony will maintain its focus on
these drugs, we expect that similar opportunities
fo the ALZA arrangement will orise os owr
technology becomes recognised warldwids.
These types of arongements con be readily
accommodoted without losing facus on the
prime direction of the Compony. As importantly,
such arrengements do not place any financigl
burdens on the Compony os they are funded
by partnars.

In the normal cyce of o research stortup
project, it takes many vears far g company to
lounch @ new product and even longer before
it con obtain meaningful sales revenues. One
of the few exceptions to this model is ¢
biotechnology company which can eom
money without product sales. It is normel
proctice for phormoceuticol componies o
license technologies ond pay upfront with
milestone payments before the launch of g
product thet often tokes many years. The
Company has severol opportunities to enter
into such agreements during the course of
2006 or the first half of 2007,

We have previousty emphasised that the
Company's technology can deliver drugs
through many different routes of administrotion.
Although the Company commenced research
on topical delivery, the transdermol markat
remains o smell port of the drug delivery
indusiry and during 2006 we will set out
fo demonstidte the strength of our technology
in delivering drugs both orally or thraugh
inhalation, thershy expanding our future
opportunities and  distinguishing  ourselves
from other companies practicing in the
transdermal field.

While the Company will concentrate on the
pharmaceutical division during 2006, it expects
to shortly obtain GRAS (Generally Recognised As
Safe) stotus for our nutraceutical tocophery!
phosphate product. This will encble the Company
to enter the functional food industry in the US,
which we believe to be the most lucrotive
and applicoble part of the nutritional industry for
our products.

{Q}V\,u

/

Hafry Rosen
Managing Director




PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED

Phosphagenics - Consolidated Year in Review

L D T
¥ . Fwmanoar G MRS o RS e o BARR
NET ASSETS/EQUITY
Per Share 24.2 cents 22.6 cents 17.1 cents
Amount $132.13m S113.22m $29.38m
SECURITIES : Year End Marke Prices
Shares (POH) 24.5 cents 30.0 cents 220 cents
Options (POHOB) 13.0 cents 17.0 cents 12.0 cents
MARKET (APHALISATION $133.95m $149.95m 450 m
ISSUED SECURITIES
Shares (POH) guoted 546,758,474 499,834,011 172,100,867
Options (POHOB) quoted 59,646,712 59,696,177 60,168,148
EQUITY RAISING S000 5000 S000
Exercise of Options $9 $94 82
Share Purchase Plon _ - 2019 :
Plocement 11,250 4,540 5,235
Scrip Acquisition - 89,188 -
Capifol Raisings Costs 48 e e, 286
FUNDING
Cash and Receivables 7,882 2,377
OPERATING RESULTS
Losses GAAP NA -3,148 -2,66}
AIFRS Adjustments - 872 NA
Post AIFRS Adjustments U Tk
5 Commentary
1. FY 2005 and FY 2004 are not directly comparable due to:
. change from equity accounting (FY 2004) fo wholly-owned consolidation (FY 2005)
. preparation of financial reports in FY 2005 for the first time under the Australian equivalents of Infermational Financial Reporfing

Standards (“AIFRS”)

)

In FY 2004 the Company held throughaut the year o 36.3 pet cent equity interest in Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd (“VHS”). As such,
for FY 2004 the Company equity accounted its 36.3 per cent share of losses amounting to $0.973 millien out of total VHS losses of
$2.680 million.

S 3 A the dlose of business on 31 December 2004, the Company acquired the remaining 63.7 per cent of VHS not previously held by the
Company, os pproved by shoreholders resclufion ot the 29 January 2004, General Mesfing of sharefolders.

4, s nated in FY 2004 the Company reported o 36.3 per cent equity accounted share of losses of $0.973 million as o single in item in the
ncome Statement. However, in FY 2005 with VHS as o whollyowned subsidiary the expenditure ifems were dllocated to the specific and
voried line items of expenditure as shown in the Income Statement and tofalled $11.876 milfion. As such, ond os stered above, the two
onnual results are not readily or directly comporable.
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Phosphagenics - Consolidated Year in Review

wn

Commentary (Continued)

To notionally compare the reported losses for FY 2004 and FY 2005 the equity occounted losses of FY 2004 need to be “grossed-up”
to 100 per cent ie.

36.3 per cent = 50.973 million
100.00 per cent of
the VHS Results = §2.680 million

This additional $1.7 m in costs notionally increases the FY 2004 comparable financial results under AIFRS from @ loss of $2.276 m
to 0 loss of $3.983 m:

Notional 2004 2005 Movement
Expenditure $4.273m S11.876 m §7.603m
Loss $3.983 m $8.493m $4.510m

With the majority of the increase from 2004 in the notionally comparable expenditure far 2005 being attributable o AIFRS “impairment”
charge (53.90 m).

in addition to the change from equity accounting of investments (36.3 per cent) fa full consolidated ownership (100.0 per cent) the
FY 2005 saw the first financial year prepared ond reported under the new standards (AIFRS).

The impact of the introduction of AIFRS is dealt with in detail in the Notes to the Financial Starements and include the transitional changes
and odjustments to allow FY 2004 results to be chonged from A.GAAP. 1o AIFRS,

Porticulor impact of AIFRS on your Company, its performance and financiol position being:
(@) Impeirment

Under AIFRS the carrying volues of assets are tested and if such values have been diminished then an impairment chdige squivalent to the
difference in the canrying value ond the newly assessed warth is charged to the Income Statement gs an expense.

To comply with the new standord (AIFRS) the Company engoged Delaittes Touche Tomasu to value the Company's Intellectual Property (“IP").

As noted in the Chairman's Reparf, the valuation as conducted by Delaittes ossessed that the Company's partfolio of patents in the year ended
31 December 2005 had increased from $127 million fo $195 million;  an assessed increase in value of $68 million.

However, within the valuation process Deloittes identified certain patents that had development work deferred in fovour of other potent
processes ond had, in Deloittes opinion, diminished in carrying volue by $3.9 million, an amount which AFRS requires to be charged to the
income Statement.

{h) Research Expenditures

Under AIFRS research expenditures which previously were permitted to be capitalised under A.G.AAP. are now required o be expensed.
For FY 2005, @ year in which the Company substontially increased its R&D programmes, this has resulted in an amount of $3.074 million
of research expenditure being charged to the Income Statement.

{) Goodwill

In prior finoncial years G.A.A.P required that Goodwill be amortised. Under AIFRS, this is no fonger the cose and impairment testing
now applies.

9




PHOSPHAGENICS LiMITED

Phosphagenics - Year in Summary

The fallowing is o summary of material events ond announcements mode durihg 2005. For o full list of releases by the Compony, go to the Company's
wehsite or to the Australio Stock Exchange’s website.

23 Jonuary  Net Tangible Asser Backing 09 August . Website Upgrade

17 February AIM - UK Broker & NOMAD Appointed 30 August Phosphagenics - Appendix 4D Repert June 2005
28 February Preliminary Final Report & Full Yaar Accounts 20 September | Transdermal delivery of insulin

31 March Phospha £ Reduces Animal Blood Cholesterol Levels | 23 September - Summary of Insulin Study

12 Apri Agreement with Swiss Vitamins P /L Agreement 11 October - Appt of Executive Director/

15 April Completion of Animal Trigl for Naw Drug APAD Initigt Directors Interest Notice

19 April Annual Report to-members 19-October (onference Presentation

19 April Successfully delivers morphine through human skin | 21 October Second Study - Phospha

22 Aprl Natice of-Annual General Meeting 07 November  Phosphagenics - ALZA Corporation

26 May Results of Annual General Meeting - Development Agreement

26-May Chairman's & MD's AGM Addresses to Shasefiolders | 14 November  Appendix 3B - AS11.25M Equity Plocement
21 June Peptide Results Extend Platfarm Technalogy 18 November ~ Section 7084 Reliance Notice

05 July fuly 2005 - Newsletter to Shareholders 21 November | Phasphagenics - November 2005 Newsletter
15 July Release of Securities from Lock In Agreements 05 December - Executive Directorute - Responsibilities

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION - MISCELLANEOUS

Pooled Development Fund

During the period o number of members and investment advisers confacted the Company seeking to confirm when the Company voluntarily relinguished its
Pooled Development Fund (PDF) registration and what was, for taxation purposes, the deemed acquisition cost per shore held ot the time of the surrender
of the registration.

As announced fo the Australion Stack Exchange (ASX) the Company:

(1) Ceosed to be o registered PDF at close of business: 16 December 2004.

(2) The deemed acquisition cost per the first trades on the ASX on: 17 December 2004 wos AS0.34.

Website :

During August, the Company complefed on upgrade of its website, which can be visited at: www phosphagenics com

Members con clso visit the Company's address ot the ASX and the London Stock Exchange's (LSE) Alternative Investments Market (AIM):

ASX {Code: POH) YW 0SX.OM, B
MM {Code: PSG) veww londonstockexchongs.com

American Depository Receipts (ADR)

As announced, and highlighted in the March 2006 Newsletter, the Company has sought and been granted effective status for an ADR facility whereby the
Company's stack may be traded on the Overthe-Counter (0TC) market in the US,

The ADRs will facilitate and enable US investors to hold and trade in the stacks of fereign companies that ere not listed in the US - each ADR will represent
30 Phosphogenics' shares.

The Company's fality has heen established with The Bark of New York as the depository bank.
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Patent Status List

G - Publication:  +Title o Desaription o 0 Clouty
4 o abae ) e L RO O R BE N PRSI S
007000038 12700 Recovery of Novel process for racovering o concentrate 6 66 4 A 6 6 2020
Chroman of chromans from a distillate confaining
i Derivatives chromans. Chromans includes tocapherals
: and tocotrienols ‘
00/000452  23NovD0 Improved Process for | Process for phosphorylating o sange of drugs < & P & P P p 620K
Phosphorylation and | and nutrients. :
Compounds Produced
: by this Process !
01/001475  23-May-02 | Formulation Cantaining Formulotion of mono- and di electron fronsfer 6 P P 2 P PP P P20
. Phosphate Derivatives - agent phosphate derivatives, induding where
of Electron the mong- and di electron fransfer agent
Transfer Agents phosphote derivatives ore derived from
" tocopherol. Administration of the formulation
to subjects, induding fopicol edministration.
01/001476 | 23-May-02 | Complexes of Complexes of phosphate derivotives of G PP PP PP P P20
Phosphate Derivatives | ane or more hydroxylated actives (including
i glectron hransfer agents and tacopherol).
Hydroxylated actives includes drugs,
vitamins and health supplements.
02/001003 1 13Fet-03 . Dermal Therapy Using' Treatment of skin condifions through topical ' 6 P P 7 P 4 4 P 2022
Phasphate Derivatives | oéministrafion of 6 casmetic or pharmaceutical
of Electron farmulation comprising one or more
 Transfer Agents complexes of ane or more phosphate
derivatives of electron ransfer agents.
02/001081  20-Feb03 | Mivionutrient Supplementing o subject's intake of 0 6 P F p p [t P02
Phosphates os micronutiient through administering
Distary and vitamin phosphate derivatives or complexes
Health Supplements | of phosphate derivatives of vitamins.
Cavers administration through dietary or
: hiealth supplements and functional foods.
02/001321 - 34pr03 HMadulatian of Administration of phosphate derivatives of |6 P 7 P 4 P& Poun
Vitamin Storage ¢ vitamins, or complexes of phosphote derivalives
- of vitamins, 5o s fo cause en accumulation
+ of stored vifomin in the target fissue.
02/001486 19-4un03  Transdermal Transport | Topicol formutations comprised of effective G 7 ¢ P F P P P 2022
¢ of Compounds ! skin penefrating amaunts of one or mote
¢ phosphate derivatives of pharmaceutical
- hydroxy compounds and on acceptable corsier
Includes estrogen, estrodiol,
! testosterone, alropine, morphine,
03/000998 1 19Feb04  Carrler  Improving the efficacy and/or tronsdasmel 16 P P B P P P P
: 3 . hosport of topicaly delivared pharmaceuticals
" ot pharmacologically uctive compounds by
* Incorporating the compound in a carrier
 comprising an effective amount of ane or
 more complexes of o phosphate derfvafive
| of o lipophilic compound.
047000490  280ct04 | Phosphates of | Novel phosphotes of cholesterol lowering 4 P P 7 P PP p P 12024
Secondary Alcohals drugs ond other importent phermaceuticals,
“such os onfidepressants, with
" improved bioavailabifity.

G = Letters Potent Granted.

A = Applicotion Accepted, Awaiting Letters Patent.

? = Application Pending. Please note that there is always o risk that pending patent opplications will nat be granted.

Country Abbreviations: AJ = Australio; 82 = Brozil: €4 = Canada; N = Ching; EU = Europe; ¥R = Fronce; Gk = Germany; i = Inconesia; J? = Japon; KR = Koren; A4 = Molaysio;
1Y = Mexico; S4 = South Aiica; UK = United Kingdom; US = United Stotes
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PHOSPHAGENICS wiMi{tTED

Anti-Proliferative
Properties

PC/AU  Poblicotion Tile  Destrpion Country ‘
 Date u G o NLBR CA N Ry ER BEN
04,/000056 §5~Aug<]4 Compounds Hoving | Inhibiting occunence of one or more of the (4 £ P P P P

- fallowing by administering an effective amount |

. of ong or mare phosphate derivalives of one |
© or more elechren transfer agents:

b} proliferation of smooth musde cells

o) expression of (D34 receptors

d} uptake of oxidized LDL i
Alevioting,/treting /preventing atherosclerosis. |
Allevicting/treating /preventing dicbetes. !
Allevioting/treating/preventing Alzheimet's
disease. Inhibiting occumence of plogue :
formation in the vascular system. Aleviating |
inflommation essocioted with occunrence of one|
or mors of ¢b,c, or d (nhove)

i
u) proliferation of monacytes /macraphages |
|
|

04,/000491 Phosphate

$280¢04
!  Derivatives

|
Nove! phosphate compounds from }
uldehydes with o phenolic hydroxy |
group, and use of for improving \
bioovailability. Coverage includes ‘
propofal and improvement of the
defivery of this anoesthetic. ;

S p 5 ; ;

2024

04/000492  :280c-04  Phosphate
i Derivatives of
 Pharmaceutical
 Products

Complexes of phosphate derivatives and 1 4

. phosphate derivatives of drugs with o phenolic |
! hydraxy group, including opioids and i

steroid hormones. i

P02

05/ 000307 Alkaloid Formulation

Formulations containing reaction products of 14 (other countries to be chosen prior fo Notional Phase deadline) ?
ane o more akaloids with one or more i
phosphate derivatives of one ar more electron |
transfer ogents.

2025

+ Carrier for Enteral
 Administration

05,/001159

* enterally administered biologically active

Improving the efficacy and hransport of P {other countries to be chosen prior to National Phase deadline)
compounds by comhining the active compound
in g carrier comprising an effective omount of
one or mare phosphate derivatives of on of
one or mare electron fransfer agents.

2025

Compounds
¢ Hoving Anti-Cancer
 Properties

not yet known

Mleviating symptoms, freating or preventing | Countries to be chosen
cancer, by administering fo a subject, having
or at tisk of developing cancer, the

pharmaoceutical formulation. ‘

2026

i Compound Having
- Lipid Lowering
Properties

i i

+ overall cholestero! and mixtures thereof, by
- odministering on effective omount of one or
* more phosphate derivotives of one or more

Lowering the blood levels of o fipid selected | Counties to be chosen

from the group of LDL cholesteral, Miglycerides,

electron tronsfer agents.

2026

Provisional filed \ Transfer Proteins

- Compaunds Having

H.P“r‘o'visiunul filed :
i + B-omylaid Toxicity

. Inhibiting Properties

i

: Transderml delivary
. of lusge molecules

 Provisional fled |

Provisional filed ! Drug formulafion

| Formulafions Hoving
| Cytokine Regulating
! Properties

 Provisiona! ied
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Financial Report

Corporate Governance Statement

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

During the year, the Company paid o premium in respect of o contract insuring ifs Directors ond Officers against o liability, other thon o wilful breach of
duty, of o nature that is required 1o be disclased under section 300(8) of the Corporatians Act 2001. In accordance with section 300(9) of the
Corporations Act 2001, further detalls have not heen disclosed due ta confidentiality provisions contained in the insurance contract.

Corporate GovErnance PRAcTICES anD Conpuct

For oll listed companies in Australia, there is an Australian Stack Exchange Limited ('ASX'} Listing Rule requiring the inclusion, in the Company's anaudl
report, of a stotement of the main Corporcte Governance practices that have been applied during the reporting period. In March 2003, the ASX issued its
{omparate Governance Coundil's ('Coundll'} best practice recommendtions. The Baard of Directors has reviewad the recommendations which it endorses
and has odopted the principles espoused therein as the basis for the Board Charter on Carperate Governance.

This statement outlines the main Corporate Governance polidies that have been applied thraughout the financial year, unless otherwise stated. Those
practices ore dealt with under the following headings:

. Board of Directors and its Committees;

. Internal Control Framework and Ethical Stondards;
. Business Risk; and

. Role of Shareholders.

Boord of Directors and its Committees

The Board of Directors is respansible for the overall Govemance of the Company inclusive of its strategic development and the direction and the control of
operations of the Company. Whilst the Board retains overall responsibility, it has established certain committees to assist in carrying out its responsibilities.
Such committees include the Audit, Compliance and Corparate Governance Committee and the Share Allatment Committee.

The Directors in office af the date of this statement, their skills, experience, experfise and period of directorship are detailed in the Directors' Report.

In respect of the attendance at Board and Committee Meetings, shareholders ore referred to the table of Meeting Attendance contained on page 16.
Composition of the Board

The Company's Constitutian provides for the appointment of o minimum number of Directors of three and up fo o maximum of eight. At the dote of this
report, the Company has seven Directors comprising three Executive and four Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Board's Commiftees' are Non-Executive Directors.

in Decermber 2005, the Board of Directars undertook o review of the siatus of each Divector und reached the opinion that such Director apatt fram Messrs.
Pattison, Rosen and ffs. Ogru could be clossified as o NonExecufive Director, In oddition, this ossessment has cancluded that by the tests set out in the

Coundil's best practice quidelines thot Prof. A. Vizard, Prof. J Mills and Mr. J. Addison qualified as Independent Directors. At that time the remaining
Director wos considered nat to be independent for the following reasons:

. Mr M Preston provided consulting services fo, Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd and ossisted the Company in equity copital raisings.

The Constitution does not require o shareholding qualfication for Directors.
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Corporate Governance Statement (Continued)

Board Responsibilities

The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company is delegated by the Board to the specfically identified autsourced service providers.
The Board ensures that this team of service providers is approprictely qualified and experienced to discharge thelr responsibilifies and hos in place
procedures fa assess their performancs.

The Boord is respansible for ensuring that management's objectives and activities are oligned with the expectations and risks identified by the Board. The
Board has a nimber of mechanisms in place to ensure this is achieved. In oddition, to the establishment of specific committees referred in this statemen,
these mechanisms include the following:

. Implementation of operating plans and budgets by management and Board monitaring of progress against budget - this includes the
esfablishment and monitoring of key performance indicatars (both financial and nondinancia) for ol significant business pracesses;

. Procedures to allow Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to sesk independent professional advice ot the Company's expense;

. The review and approval of acquisitions and disposals of businesses and assets, ond the approvol of contracts and finoncing orrongements
within defined limits; and

. The appointment of an outsourced service provider, which is respansible for managing the Company's public image and communication

with shareholders.

In conjunction with an ongoing review of e Board Charter, the Baord will consider its respansibilities and delegated authorities to ensure they comply
with best practice corporate gavernance.

Nomination and Membership

Subiect fo the provisions of the Company's Constitution, the issues of board composition and selection criteria for Directors are dealt with by the full Board.
Accordingly o Nomination and Membership Committee has nat been established.

In this area, the Chairman ond the Board Members regularly review the performance of the Board to ensure that the Boord continues to have the mix of
skills and experience necessary for the conduct of the Compeny's activities.

Whether to fill a vacancy or o expand the Beard, the procedures applied by the Board indude the selection of a panel of nominees. In compiling the panel
of nominees, the Board draws on odvice from external consultants.

Terms and conditions of the appointment are communicated to the nominees and include the level of remunsration. Again, the Consfitufion provides for
events whereby Directors may be removed from the Board. Similarly sharehalders have the abifity to nominate, appoint and remove Directors.

In addition, the Canstitution provides for the reqular ratation of Directors, which ensures that Directors sesk re-election by shoreholders af least once
every three years.

Given these existing regulatory 1equirements, Directots are not appointed for o specified term and Directors” continuity of service is in the honds
of shareholders.

Independent Professional Advice

Directors, in carrying out their duties os Directors or as members of Boord Committees, moy, after prior consultation with the Chairman, seek independent
professional odvice af the expense of the Company. If opprapriate, such odvice wil be availoble to oll Directors.

Timety and Balanced Distloswe

Whilst the Board of Directors hos not established written plicies and procedures designed fo ensure complionce with ASX Listing Rule disclosure
requirements and to ensure accountability ot a senior management level for that compliance it does at each meeting of the Board of Directors specifically
monitor the Company's activities and disclosures; on average there are betwesn nine and 10 Boord mesfings o year. As noted earlier, the Board of
Directors hos endorsed the principles of best corporate governance practice as set out by the Councll,
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Compensction (Remunerotion) Commifiee

In respect of Non-Executive Director remuneration, shareholders on 29 Janvary 2004, in Genercl Meeting, approved an increase in the aggregate sum paid
to Non-Executive Directors to 5300,000. The level of Directors' fees is reviewed requlorly by the full Boord following o review by the Chairman in
conjunction with input from indusfry organisations. Accordingly, o Compsnsation (Remuneration) Committes has not been established.

Audit, Compliance and Corpurote Governance Commites

This Committee as ot the dafe of this stafement comprises three Non-Executive Directors; nomely Mr J Addison (Chairman), Prof. A Vizard and Prof. J Mills
eqch of whom is considered fo be an independent Directar. The Company's Auditars are invited to attend meetings and o parficipate in Committee

discussions. The Company Secretary is the Commiftee Secretary.

The duties of the Commitiee include:

. The review of the Audit Progremme ond oll mafters relevant to the financid! offairs of the Company's uctivities together with the production
of Statutory Financic! Reports inclusive of the reports and Declarations by Directors;
. T review ond advise on procedures in place to recard the Company's activities and to ensure the safety of the Company's records and assets;
. Ta review Internt Control Procedures and the Auditor's Management letter;
. To review the half yearly and yearly raports 1o the Australian Stack Exchange Limited together with o review of the scope and quality of
. the onnugl statutory audit ond the hatf-year oudit review; and
. To monitor Compliance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Securities and Investment Commission guidelines

and practice nofes, Australion Stock Exchange Listing Rules, taxafion requirements and alf regufatory hodies.
During the year, the Committee considered for the adoption by the Board of Directors an Audit Charter in fine with the Councl's recommendations.
Shara Mllatment Committee
Any two Directors will constitute @ quorum for this committes, which deals with the aliotment of new shares or grant or exercise of options.
Infernal Control Fromewosk and Fthica! Stondoids
The Board of Directors seeks fo identify the expectations of shareholders as well s other requiatory and ethical expectations and abligations.

These matters are undertaken by the full Boord together with the Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Commitiee. In respect of the ethical
standards, the full Board reqularly discusses the maintenance by the Company of appropriate ethical stancards in ling with the Council's recommendations.

Guidefines for Troding in Securities

By ¢ resolution of the Boord of Directors the follawing policy has been odopted subject to insider trading laws, continuous disclosure laws ond lisfing rule
requirements. The Directors ore permirted to deal in securities in which they have o relevant interest without restiction for any period other than the fast
day in each finoncial half year until wo business doys ofter the release to the ASX of the announcements by the Company of its fullyear or foff-year
resulfs. Directors are required to wait ot least two business doys after the relecse of any other markst sensitive announcement by the Company so thet
the market has had time to absorb the informatian. In addition, the Boord of Directors hove adopted the terms of the Altemative Investments Market
(M) definifion of “close’ period and which come within the terms of the existing Board poicy.
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Business Risk

The principol activities of the Company are the production, sale and licensing of products for the nutracsutical and phormaceutical industries.
The main areas of business risk, wﬁich wre considersd on an ongoing basis by the Board of Directors, arise from:

Failure to develop Commerciol products from the Company's research and development

Failure to market the Company's products

Generol economic facters including those affecting inferest and exchange rates
(hanges in Corporations and Taxation Lows

Role of Shareholders and (ommunications
The support of the Company's shareholders is essential to the ultimate success and morket acceptance of the Company's shares.

Annual Reports ore provided to all share and option halders other than those members who havs elected nat to receive the Report. In addifion, the
{ompany has estoblished o website on the Internet which displays much of the chove information and invifes shareholder feedback -
www.phosphagenics.com. The Company has also established an e-mail directory for the direct distibution of announcements made to the ASX.

Mt the meetings of shargholders, Directors are subject to questioning by shareholders about the Directors' stewardship of the Company's affairs ond it
is shareholders who ulfimately vote upon the financial statements and reparts, the slection of Directors, appaintment of Auditors and any matters of
special business.

Signed in accordance with o resolution of the Directars.

Associale Professor
Andrew Lancelot Vizord
Chairman and Independent Director

Melhourne
14 March 2006
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FOor THE YEar ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

The Directors of Phosphagenics Limited submit herewith the annual finandial report of the Company for the financial yeor ended 31 December 2005. In
order to comply with the provisions of the Corparations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

DirecToRS
The names and particulors of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Associcte Professor Andrew Lancelot Vizard (Aged 47 years) BVSc (Hons) MVPM
Non-Executive Independent Director since July 1999

Chairman since October 2000

Last re-elected May 2005

With o background in research and ogricultural consulfancy, Professor Vizard is the Senior Consultant with and former Director of the Mackinnon Project
at the University of Melboume. This enterprise s recognised os o leader in delivering practical advice to farmer ond agribusiness on o wide range of
agricultural and economic issues. Professor Vizard is the author of over 50 scientific papers.

Professor Vizard is currently a Non-Exacutive Directar of Ridley Corporation Ltd, Animal Heolth Aushralia Ltd, Primesafe, the Austrelian Poultry Industry
(ooperative Research Centre and the Zoological Parks and Gordens Board of Victaria. He also sits on the Scientific Advisory Board for the Hermon
Slode Foundation.

Professor Vizard is o member of the Company's Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee and is the Company's representative on the
Board of Directors of the Viral Health Sciences Py Lid group. ‘

Harry Rosen (Aged 58 years) B.A. (Psychology), LLSB.
Executive Director appointed 1o the Board in June 1999
Appointed Managing Director December 2005

Lost re-elected May 2004

Mr Rosen is Mancging Director of Phosphogenics Limited and is o practicing lawyer. He is one of the founders of Betaten Limited and Denehurst Limited,
two formerly ASX listed companies which commercialised significant research and development. Betatene is the world's largest producer of natural beto
corotene. After the purchase of Betatene Limited by Henkel Corporation, Mr Rosen served os Vice President, Corparate Development. As g Vice President of
Henkel Corporation, he warked for o number of years in the USA in the nutrifion and health care industries.

Mr Rosen hos consulted to many technclogy companies assisting them with the commerciclisation of new technologies. He has had significant experience
in the arens of seed capital raising, stock exchange listings, taxation ond corporate low. Mr Rosen graduoted from the Australion National University (B.A -
Psychology) in 1970 and the University of Melbourne (LLB) in 1973.

Mr Rosen hos on equity intetest entittement in and is a Director of Petrecydle Limited.

Dr lan Grant Pattison {Aged 55 years) BSc. {Hons) PhD.

Chief Operating Officer, Director since December 2005

Lost re-elected May 2004

Prior to foining Phosphagenics Limited Or Poftison was the Asia/Pacific Director in chorge of the Nutrition end Health Division of Cognis, o large German-
based specialty chemical company.

Previausly he was Managing Director of Betatene, on innovative Australion company, which led the world in the production and safe of natural beta-
corotene from algoe.

Dr. Patfison's earlier career was in the Austrafian mining industry in various research, operating, engineering, markefing and manogement positions. He
graduated from the University of Melbourne, with BSc (Hons) and PRD.

On 4 March, 2004, Dr Pattison was appointed as ¢ Director of Phosphagenics and of Vital Health Sciences Py Ltd,

7.
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For THE YeAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

Jonathen Lancelot Addison {Aged 53 years) B.E¢ (Tas), ASIC, CFTP (Sr)
Non-Executive Director since November 2002
Last re-elected May 2005

Mr Addison has over 27 years in the investment management industry, including wide experience in superannuation. Currently, he is the Fund Manager of the
Meat Industry Emplayee Supetannuation Fund (“MIESF™) whom he joined in June 1999 ond where he is responsible for the overall management of MIESF,

MIESE, 0 self-administered industry superannuation fund established in 1981 which operates nationally, currently holds 21,800,000 shares in
Phasphagenics Limited, being 4.36 per cent of the Company's issued veting share capital.

Prior to his appointment to MIESF, Mr Addison was o Director and Asset Consultant within the Corparate Finance section of PricewatethouseCoopers and in
this role was responsible for establishing an investment consulting practice with clients ranging fram superannuation funds to insurance funds and funds
managers. Prior to thet, he was Manager Investment Consultant of Sedgwick Noble Lowndes.

Mr Addison is the Chairman of the Company's Audit, Complionce ond Corporate Governonce Commitiee.

Mr Addison also holds Non-Executive directarships with Austcarp Capital Funds Management Limited, Globol Masters Fund Limited, African Enterprise
Limited, Ceramic Funds Manogement Limited and Howksbridge Limited.

Professor John Mills (Aged 65 years) BS, MD, FACP FRACP
Non-Executive Independent Director since March 2004
Last re-elected May 2004

Professar Mills stepped dawn ofter 10 years os Directar of the Mocfarlane Bumnet Institute for Medical Research, Australia’s premier communicable disease
and public heolth research institute.

Professar Mills is Managing Director of the AS listed Norhex Life Sciences Limited, He currently holds professorial appointments at Monash University and
gt RMIT and is o consulting physician of the Alfred and Ausfin Hospitals. He is also o Director of TissuPath Pty Ltd ond o Non-Executive Director of GBS
Venture Parmers Ltd.

Professor Mills hs published over 200 scientific articles and has served as o consulant fo industry and governments, the World Heatth Organization ond
the United Notions.

Professar Mills is @ member of the Company's Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee.

Michael Dovid Preston (Aged 60 years) MA., FCA.
Non-Executive Director since 8 November 2004
Re-elected in May 2005

M Preston is o principal partner and founder of Alberdale & Co., an FSAregulated corporcte finance and business advisory firm bosed in London with
offices in USA. Atherdale specialises in media, technolagy and life sciences and manages a high technology venture capital fund concentrating in life
sciences. Mr Preston was previously o founder of Sterling Publishing Group PLC, a business publishing company that was publicly listed in London in
1985. He was also d founder of the Broad Street Group PLC, o marketing services compony that was publicly listed in-London in 1986 and eventually
acquired by the French group BODP. Mr Preston has extensive experience as ¢ financial and strategic adviser to many growing companies in the UK and
USA. He is o Fellow of the Institute of Charterad Accountants in England and Wales and shares his time between New York ond Londan.
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Dr Esra Ogru (Aged 30 years) BSc {Hons) PhD

Executive Director Research & Development

Appointed as an Exacutive Direcior 11 October 2005

Dr. Esra Ogiu is responsible for the co-ordination and management of pre-clinical and dinical research for Phosphagenics.

After receiving her PhD in Biochemistry from Monash University, she conducted postdoctoral research af Manash University, Department of Biochemistry
and Malecular Biology, where she was o member of the Obesity and Dinhetes research group involved in the pre-clinical und clinical development of enti-
ohesity peptides.

Dr. Ogru s experienced in many ospects of academic and commercial research and has publications in peereviewed journgls.

Unless indicated otherwise, all Diractors held their pasition as a Director tiroughout the entire financial year and up to the dote of this report.

Direcrorsuips of OtsEr Listep ComPANIES

Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the three years immediately before the end of the financiol yeor are os follows:

gNume o Componyi o Period:af direciorship
. Prof. John Alills I Amrad Corporation Limited 21 June 1995 10 15 October 2003

COMPANY SECRETARY

Maurice Garbutt

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principle activities of the Company are the production, sale and licensing of products far the nutraceutical and pharmacautical industries.
Review o OPERATIONS

For the year, the Group refurned an cperating loss of $8.49 million {2004: $2.28 million) including impairment losses of $3.9 million (2004: Ni).
CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

During the financial vear there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the consofidated entity other than that referred to in the financial
statements or notes fhereto.

SuBSEQUENT EVENTS

There has not been any matter or circumstonce, other thon thot referred to in the financial statements or nofes thersfo, that has arisen since the end of
the financial year, that has significontly affected, or moy significantly offect, the operotions of the consolidoted entity, the resulfs of those operotions, or
the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financicl years.

g
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For THE YEArR ENDED 31 IDECEMBER 2005
FuTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Disclosure of information regurding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in future finonciol years and the expected resulfs of
thase oparations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity. Accordingly, this information has nat been disclosed in this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The principal activities of the Company are not subject to any particulor or significant enviranmental regulotions:

Divipenps

The Directars have not recommended the payment of any dividends and no dividends were declared, paid or reinvested in the yeor fo 31 December 2005.
SHARE QpTIONS

Share options granted 1o Direciors und execufives

During and since the end of the financicl year an aggregate of 3,000,000 share options were granted fo the following Directors and executives of the Company:

Diredtors and executives | o MNumberof o Issuingentity . Number of ordinary
! o - options granied o i i shares under option

O Sondo N Webb* 30000007 | Phoshogenicslmited 3,000,000

* Dr Webh is o Director of Vital Health Sciences Py Ltd

** On 17 Augost, 2005, the Baord of Directors rescived to grant 3,000,000 options under the terms of the Employee Shore Option Plan (ESOP) fo Dr. S
N Webb. Dr Webb os o director of o subsidiary company being an eligible employee. ‘

The five-year options have an exercise price of $0.2148 eoch and, after on inificl tranche of 500,000 which vest af the time of grant, will vest in five
equal ranches at the end of cansecutive six-monthly periods.

Under Accounting Standards, the Company is reguired to account for the options over the vesting period af the fair value established af the time of the
grant {18 August 2005).

The fair valuations were calculated using the Black-Scholes method fo produce an option value of $0.09485 per option.
Share options on issue of year end or exercised during the year

Details of unissued shares or interests under option are:

[ lsuingentity . MNumberofshares  Classofshores  fxercseprice . ¢ Expiry date
~ underoption . ofopfion ofoptions 0 o0
Phosphagenics Limited 59,646,712 Ordinary ‘ $0.20 ‘ 7 June 2009

The holders of such options do not have the right, by virtug of the optien, to participate in any share issue or interest issue of any other body corporate
of registered scheme.
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Details of shares or interests issued during the financial year as a result of exercise of an option are;

 Issuing entity. ! Number'of | - (ldss of | Amountpaid © 0 Amount Unpaid
Sl e shareslissued sharss . forshares . onshares.
Phosphagenics Limited : 49,465 Ordinary , $9,893.00 | Nil

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

During the year, the Company paid o premium in respect of o contract insuring ifs Diractors and Officers against o liability, other than g wilful breach of
duty, of o nature that is required to be disclosed under séction 300(8) of the Corporations Act 2001. In accordance with section 300(9) of the
{orparations Act 2001, further details have not been disclosed due to confidentiality provisions contained in the insurance contract.

Direcrors” MEETINGS
The following table sets out the number of Directors' meetings (including meetings of committees of Directars) held during the financial year and the

number of meetings attended by each Director {while they were a Director or committee member). During the financial year, seven board meetings,
five share ollotment committee meetings and four udit committee meetings were held.

P * Boord of Divectors - Share Allotment Commitiee -~ Audit Committee. -
* Directors: 2 oomos . Hald 0 Aendedson. iHeld  Attended . o i o Held o Atended

Addison, § L 7 6 § ] 4 4

Mills, J 7 6 5 4 4

Ogru, £ 7 2 5 4

Pattison, | G 7 7 5 5 4

Preston, M D 7 7 § 4

Rosen, H 7 7 § 3 4

Vizard, AL 7 7 5 ] 4 3

Mr H. Rosen (2); Mr. 1D Preston (1); and Prof. Mils (1} were granfed leave of absence from Board mestings whilst travelling overseus during the period.

DIRECTORS” SHAREHOLDINGS

The following table sers out each Director's relevant interest in shores, debentures, and rights or options in shares or debentures of the Company or o
related body corparate as at the date of this report.

Addisen, J L

Mils, |

Ogry, .

Pottison, | 6 427,667 350,000

Preston, M D 2,372,659 -

Rosen, H 64,080,143 5,050,000

Vizord, AL 123,411 1,200,000
69,887,157 6,600,000

There has been no movement in Directars” entitlements to options during the period. Al options are exercisuble of 20 cents each of any dafe up o June 2009.

o
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REMUNERATION Report
Remuneration policy for Directors und executives

The Company's policy for determining the nature and amounts of emoluments of Baard members, Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors and senior
management is as follows:-

The Board is responsible for making recommendations on remuneration policies and packages applicable ta the Board members. The Broad remuneration
policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the person's dufies and responsibilities; and that remuneration is compefitive in attracting,
retaining ond metivating people of the highest quality.

Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:

. Salary and fees;
. Superannuation; and
. Options issued under the Company's Employee Share Option Plan.

Apart from terminotion benefits, which occrue under statute (such os unpaid annual leave, long service leave ond superannuation benefits), there are
no retirement benefits. The Company pays superannuation at the required superannuation guarantee rate and sulary sacrificed contributions info an
accumulated benefit type fund and therefore there are no future liabilities in respect of these payments.

'

The aggregate remuneration paid to Nan-Executive Directors is capped at the level appraved by sharehalders for this purpose. Non-Executive Directors
remuneration reflects the additional committees that they may serve on from fime to time. There are no fermination benefits for Non-Executive Directars.

Remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board of Directors. The process consists of o review of Companywide, business unit and individual performance,
relevant comparative remuneration in the market ond internally, and where appropriote, external advice on policias and practices.
Director anNp Executive Deraits

The Directors of Phasphagenics Limited during the year were:

. Vizord, AL Independent Chairman (NonExecutive)
. Aills, J Independent Director (Non-Executive)
. Ogru, E Director (Executive)
. Pattisan, | 6 Chief Operating Officer (Fxecutive)
. Preston, M D Director (Non-Executive)
. Rosen, H Managing Director (Executive)
. Addison, 11 Independent Director (Non-Exacutive)
The group executives of Phosphagenics Limited during the year were:

. Butler, B R Vice President - Nuftaceuticals
. Chilton, M Financiol Confroller
. Karanikalapaulos, K Manager Corporate Devalopment
. Webb, SN Director - Vital Heclth Services Pry Ltd
. West, S M Director - Vital Health Servicas Pty Ltd
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REMUNERATION OF DiReCTORS AND EXECUTIVES

The following toble discloses the remuneration of the Directars of the Company:

n Sh:un-Term . st Share Bn;“sjedl - Total

Employment . Poyment L e

Salary & fees Superannuation QOptions
2005 S S S S
Pattison, | G 229,358 20,642 - 250,000
Rosen, H 149,000 8,910 - 177,910
Ogry, £ 125,000 - - 125,000
Vizard, AL 68,104 6,129 - 74,233
Prestan, M D 58,681 - - 58,651
Mills, J 22,385 12915 - 35,300
Addison, J L 32,385 2915 - 35,300

RemuneraTioN oF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES {Continuen)

The following table discloses the remunaration of the executives of the Company and group executives of the consolidafed enfity:

Co ShotTerm o Pest o oShreBosed 1 Total
oo tmployment . . Poymemt . - o0 o0
Salary & fees Superannuation Options
7005 S $ S S
Butler, B R : 73,991 96,000 - 169,991
Webb, SN 115,939 - 47,425 163,344
Chilkon, M 100,000 9.000 - 109,000
West, S M 100,000 - - 100,000
Keronikolopoutos, K 84,098 7,549 - : 91,667
Yalue of options issued to Directors and execufives
The following toble disclases the valus of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year:
Options Options Options Total value of Value of options Percentoge of
Gronted Exerdised Lapsed opfions gronted, included in total remuneration
Volue af Velue ot Volue ot exercised remuneration for for the year that |
gront date exercise date fime of lapse and lapsed” the year®* consists of options |
S S S S $ % :
#ebb, SN 284,550 . - 784,550 47 4125 79.03

Value of options - bosis of caleulotion

On 17 August 2005, the Board of Directors resolved to grant 3,000,000 options under the terms of the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) to Dr. SN
Webb. Dr Webb, as o Directar of o subsidiory compeny, being an eligible emplayss.
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The five year aptions have an exercise price of $0.2148 each and vest in six equal tranches o the end of consecutive six manthly periods beginning from
18 August 2005.

Under Accounting Standards, the Company is required to account for the options fair value established ot the time of the grant {18 August 2005).
The fair valuations were colculated using the Black-Scholes method to produce an option value of $0.09485 per opfion.

For further details of the aptions refer to Note 5 in the Financial Statements.

Non-Aubir ServicEs

The Directors are safisfied that the provision of non-oudit services, during the year, by the auditer (or by another person or firm on the auditar's behalf)
are compatible with the general standard of independenc for guditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001,

Details of amounts paid o payable to the ouditor for non-audit services provided during the yeor by the cuditor are outlined in note 4 to the
finondial stotements.

AupIToR"s INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The ouditor's independence declaration is induded an page 24 of the financial report.
ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is o company of the kind referred to in ASIC Closs Order 98,/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order amounts
in the Directors' report and the financial report are rounded off fo the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with o resolution of the Directars made pursuent ta 5.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001

/

[

f

Harry Rosen
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Melbourne
16 March 2006
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5 Auditors Independence Declaration

To tHe Directors oF ProspHAGENICS LimiTep

In relation to our audit of the financial repart of Phosphagenics Limited for the financial yeor ended 31 December 2005, to the best of my knowledge
and belief, there have been no contraventions of the ouditor independence tequitements of the Carparations Act 2001 or any applicable code of
professional conduct.

o

E—!’ERNST& yOUNC B Lot & Young Building 2Tl 6139
& Exbibiion Strae Fax 613
VI 3000 0 2939 2

PO Bur &7
Meibnune VU 30T

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Phosphagenics Limited

In relation to our review of the financial report of Phosphagenics Limited for the half-year ended
31 December 2003, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of
the auditor independence requirements of the Corparations Act 2001 or any applicable code of
professional conduct.

C
///, > /‘3("/ ¥ % ey ‘?/

Emst & Young
Don Brumlcy
Partner

16 March 2006

Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legistaiion
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{ONSOLIDATED PARENT
Note 2005 2004 2005 2004
S S S S

Revenue
Sale of Goods 184
Income from Start Gront 1,292
Royalties 1,498
Total Revenue 2,974
Cost of sales A8
Gross profit 2,968
Other income Rl 415 290 339 290
Share of profits of associates and jointly
controlled entifies accounted for using the
equity method (973 - (973)
Employee and Directors” benefits expenses (1,227) (511) (893) (511
Occupancy and communications expenses {298) {23 {250) (232)
Constlting and professional expenses {1,567) (673) {859) (673)
Administration expenses {821) {23) (695) (23)
Reseorch expenses (3,074) - -
Impaitment lasses 12 (3,500) - -
Other expenses o o8y 0 @) (134)
Loss before income tax expense (8,493) {2,276) (2,585 (2,276)
Income tax expense & IO . e :
Loss from continuing operations (7323 (2,276) o [2585) (2,276)
Loss for the period 733) . @ne @58 (2278)
Loss attributable to members
of the parent enlity (7,323) (2,276} (2,585) (2,276)
Earnings per share:
Basic {cents per share) 7 (1.45 {1.29) (0.51) (1.29)
Diluted (cents per share) 17 (1.45) (1.29) (0.51) {129

Notes to the financiol stotements are included on pages 3010 71
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For THE YEaR ENDED 31 IDECEMBER 2005

(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
Note 2005 2004 2005 2004
] S S S

Current Assets
Cosh ond cash equivalents 249 13,189 7222 12,150 6,737
Trode ond other receivables 7 1,003 660 3,095 21
Inventories 8 66 7 - -
Prepayments ST 1 N - N | B -
Total Curvent Assets 14,648 7934 15,324 6,803
Non-Current Assefs
nvestmant in subsidiory 9 - 94,211 94,211
Property, plant and equipment 10 279 90 48
Goodwill 11 34,261 - -
Infangible assets 12 125,262
Total Non-Current Assets 159,802
Total Assets 167,736
{urrent Liohilities
Trade and other poyables 13 1,623 794 534 Ly
Deferred tox liahility 4 36,918 38,088 . .
Pravisians 4 38 168 30 14
Govermment grants 336 : e
Total Current Liabilifies L3893 38,898 £ SR (S
Total Liohifities 3893 38898 564 16
Het Assels 132,137 128,838 109,063 101,026
Equity
Contributed Equity 15 145,306 134,731 145,306 134,731
Reserves 16 27,859 .27.812 47 -
Retained earnings {41,028 (33,705) {36,290) (33,705)
Toto) Equity 132,137 128838 109,063 101,026
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Cash Flow Statement

For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Recaipfs from customers

Govermment grants received

Payments to suppliers and employees

Net cash from /(used in) aperating activities

Cash Flows from lnvesting Activities
Interest received

Purchose of property, plont and equipment
Praceeds from disposal of

{ovailablefor-sale investments

Purchase of ather financial assets

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Net cash provided by

/(used in) investing activities

Cash Flows from Finandng Activities
Praceeds from issues of shares

Procaeds from exercising aptions

Loon to subsidiary

Net cosh flows provided by

/(used in} financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalants
Cash ond cosh aquivalents ot the beginning
of the financial yeor

Cash and Cosh Equivalents

At the end of the Finandial Year

LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
Note 2005 2004 2005 2004
S S S S
556 280 (28) 280
1,814 - - :
(6,921) (1,758) (2,370) 0758
24(b) (4,550) (1,478) (2,398) (1,478)
333 121 257 121
(390) 04 @ 04
33 33
74 : 74)
15 10,575 5,741 10,575 5,741
: % . %
LT T X 1. 1375 5,837
5,967 4,910 5413 L4D
SO S LY N 6737 2,312
24(0) 13,189 7,1 12,150 6,137
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At 1 January 2004

Loss for the year

Exercise of opfions

Issue of share capital

Distribution of investment in gssociate
Fair value revalugtion of remaining interest in associate
At 31 December 2004

Lass for the year

Exercise of options

Employee aquity settled benefits
Issue of shares

Ar 31 December 2005

PARENT

A1 January 20604

Lass for the year

Exercise of options

Issue of share capital
Distribution of investment in associate
At 31 December 2004

Loss for the year

Exercise of options

Employee equity settled bensfits
Issue of shores

At 31 December 2005

REPORT

Statement of Changes in Equity

Contributed Retained
Equity Losses Reserves Total
S S S S
39,701 (26,141 13,560
. (2,276) {2,276)
9% - 94
94,936 - 94,936
. (5,288) : (5,288)
: S 11\ /)
134731 (33,705) 27,812 128,838
- {7,323) - {7,323)
8 . : 8
- 47 47
=LY A : L 10567
145,306 (41,028) 27,859 132,137
Contributed Retained
Fquity Losses Reserves Tota!
S S S S
39,701 (26,141) 13,560
- {2.276) (2,276)
94 - 94
94,934 - 94,936
- (5,288) (5,288)
134,731 (33,705) 101,026
. (2,565) {2,585)
8 . - 8
- 47 47
10,567 o . 10,567
145,306 (36,290) 47 109,063

25 i
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The finandial report of Phasphagenics Limited for the yeor ended 31 December 2005, wos authorised for issue in accordonce with o resolution of the
Birectars on 15 March 2006. ‘

Phosphagenics Limited is a listed public company, incorporated and operating in Australia.

Registered office
Level 2, 90 Williom St, Metbourne, Victoria 3000

Employess
The number of employess ot 31 December 2005 is 5 (2004:2)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{a) Busis of preparction of the finandial report

The financiaf report is o general-purpose finondial report, which hos been prepared in occordance with the reguirements of the Carporations Act 2007 and
Austrafian Accounting Standards. The financial report hos olso been prepared on a historical cost basis.

The finoncial report is presented in Australion dollors and oll values ore raunded to the nearest thousand dollars (S'000), unless otherwise stoted under
the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98,/100. The Company is an entity to which the dass order applies.

{b) Statement of Compliance

The financial report complies with Australion Accounting Standards, which include Australion Standard equivalents to Infernational Financial Reporting
Stondards ("AIFRS"). Compliance with AFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes thereto, complies with
Internationa! Finoncial Reparting Stendards ('IFRS').

This is the first financiol report prepared based on AIFRS and the 2004 comparatives for the year ended 31 December 2005, have been restated
accordingly. Reconcifiations of AIFRS equity and profit for 31 December 2004, to the balances reported in the 31 December 2004, finoncial report
are defailed in the Stotement of Changes in Equity toble poge 28.

The comparatives for the yeor ended 31 December 2004, hove been restated to reflect the recognition ond measurement of AIFRS except for the adaption
of ASB 132: Financial Instryments: Presentation and Disclosure and AASB 139: Financial fnstruments: Recagnition and Measurement, o5 the Group hos
odopted the exemption under AKSB 1: First-fime Adoption of Australion Equivalents to Interational Fingncial Reporting Standords to apply AASB 132 and
AASB 139 from 1 Jonuory 2005. There was no impact on the Income Stafement and equity an odoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139.

fustralion Accounting Stendards that have recently been issued or omended, but are not yet effective, fave not been adopted for the annual reporting
period ending 31 December 2005:

fe 30 i
i
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conrinuep)

REPORT

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued

. AASB Amendment . Affected Standard(s) . MNatureof change- ~ Applicationdote ~ Application date
LT L Aooccounting policy ~ ofstondord® - forGroop:
20051 AASB 139: No change fo accounting 1 January 2006 31 December 2006
Finandia! Instruments: policy required.
Recognition and Measurement Thetefore, no impact }
20055 ARSB 1 No change fo accounting 1 January 2006 31 December 2006
First time adoption of AIFRS, policy required.
ASB 139: Financial Instruments: — Therefore, no impact
Recognition and Measurement
2005-6 AASB 3: fo change fo accounting 1 Janvary 2006 31 December 2006
Business Combinations policy required.
....... , Therefore, no impoct
200510 MSB 132: No change fo accounting 1 January 2007 31 December 2007
Finoncial Instruments: policy required.
Disclosure and Presentafion, Therefore, no impact
ASB 101: Presentation
of Financia! Statements,
AASB 114: Segment Reporfing,
AASB 17: {eases, ASB 133:
Farnings per Share, AASB 139:
Financial instruments:
Recognition and Measurement,
ALSB 1 Firsttime adoplion of
AIFRS, MSB 4: Insurance
Contracts ond AASB 1038:
e Life Insurance Contacts e
New Standard AASB 7: Financral No change to accounting 1 Jonuary 2007 37 December 2007

Instruments: Disclosures

policy required.
Therefore, no impact

* Applicofion dote is for the annual reporting periods beginning on or fter the date shown in the above table.

The following cmendmenis are not applicable o the Group and therefore, have no impact

* ASB Amendment

hffected Standard(s)

20052

AASB 10231"6e_nemf Insurance Confracts

20054

20059

ASB 4: Insuronce Comrqqsvund AASB 1023; Generat lnsy_r_gnﬂcg_@gntracts

" AASB 1038: ‘;i}érh'rluSUmﬂ(E Contracts Gl'ld MSB 1023: General Insurance CGM}G&S S

200512

" AASB 1038: Lfe Insurance Contracts and AASB 1023: General Insuronce Contracts

200513

A4S 25; Financiol Reporting by Superonnuation Plon




PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED

Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued

For THE YeAr ENDED 31 DECEMBER 200
3 5

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuep)

() Busis of consolidation

The cansolidated financia! statements comprise tha financiol statements of Phosphagenics Limited and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year ('the Group).
The finandial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reparting pariod as the parent company, using consistent accaunting policies.
bAdiusTmems are made to bring into fine any dissimilar accounting policies that moy exist.

All intercompany holances and transactions, including unsealised profits arising from intro-group transoctions, have been eliminated in ful. Unreolised
losses are efiminated unless costs cannot be recovered.

Investments in subsidiaries ore carried in the parent’s balonce sheet at the lower of cost ond recoverable emount,
{d)  Significant accounting, judgements, estimotes and assumptions

The carrying amounts of cerfain assets ond lihilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events. The key estimates and
gssumptions that hove o significont risk of cousing o material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and fiobilities within the next annual
reparting period are:

Impairment of Goodwill and intungibles with indefinife useful fives

The Group determines whether gaadwill is impaired at least an an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit-fo which the goadwill is dllacated. The assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying amount of goodwill and
infangibles with indefinite useful lives are discussed in note 11.

Share-bused payment hensoctions

The Group meosures the cost of equity-seftled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date of which
they are gronted. The foir value is determined by using the Block-Scholes formula taking inta account the terms and canditions upan which the instruments
were gronted, os discussed in note 5.

(e} Cosh und Cash Equivolents

Cash and shortterm deposits in the bolance sheet comprise cash of bank and in hand and shorttarm deposits with an eriginal maturity of three months
or less.

Far the purposes of the Cash Flow Stotement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents os defined above, net of outstanding
hank overdrafts.

i Employee benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long senvice leave, and sick leave when it is probcble
that setflement will be required ond they are capable of being measured refinbly.

Provisions made in respact of employee benefits expected 1o be seftled within 12 months, ore megsured at their nomingl values using the remuneration
rate expected fo apply ot the time of setfement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued

For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conminup)

Provisions made in respect of employee henefits, which are not expected to be settled within 12 months, are meosured as the present volue of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

{a)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised af their fair value where there is reasongble essurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with.

When the gront relates fo an expense ifem, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary fa match the gmm on g systematic hasis to the costs
that it is infended to compensate.

Where the grant relotes to an asset, the fair value is credited to o deferrad income account ond is released to the income stotement over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

{h) Investment in ussociate

The Group's investment in its associote is accounted for under the equity methed of accounting in the consolidated financial statements. This is on entity in
which the Group hos significont influence and which is neither o subsidiary nor a joinf venture.

The financial statements of the associate are used by the Group to apply the equity mathod. The reporting dates of the associate and the Group ore
identicat and both use consistent accounting policies.

The investment in the associate is corried in the cansolidoted bolance sheet at cost plus post-ucquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the
associate, less any impairment in value. The consalidated incame statement reflacts the Group's share of the results of oparations of the associate. Where
there hos been a change recognised directly in the assaciate's equity, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable in
the consolidatad stotement of changes in equity.

() Income Tax

Current tox ossets ond finbilities for the current and prior periods ore measured of the omount expected fo be recovered from or paid to the toxation
authorities. The tox rates and fax lows used fo compute the amount are thase that are enacted or substantively enacted by the bolance sheet dote.

Deferred income tax is provided on all femporary differences ot the balance sheet dote between the tax hases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax licbilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

. axcept where the deferred income tox liability arises from the initicl recaguition of on asset or liability in a transaction that is not o business
combination and, at the fime of the transaction, affects neither the occounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

) in respect of faxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, ossocictes ond inferests in joint veniures, except where
the fiming of the reversal of the femporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tox assers ore recognised for ol deductible temparary differences, carryforward of unused tox assets and unused tox losses, to the extent
that it is probable that toxable profit will be ovailobe against which the deducfible femporary differences, and the canyforward of unused fax assefs and
unused tox osses con be utifised:
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conninuep)

. except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference orises from the initiof recognition of an asset or
liahility in o transoction that is not o business combination and, of the time of the transaction, offects neither the occaunting profit nor foxoble profit or
loss; and

] in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiarigs, associates and interests in jaint ventures, deferred fox
assefs are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseaable future and toxable profit will be
avaitable against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed of each balance sheet dote and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred incoma tox asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured ot the tox rates that are expected fo apply fo the year when the asset is realised o the Yabiliy is
seftled, based on tax rates {ond fax lows) that hove been enacted or substantively enacted ot the bolonce shest date.

income taxes refating to items recagnised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income stotement.
i} Other taxes
Revanues, expsnses and assefs ore recognised net of the amount of GST except:

. where the GST incurred on a purchase af goads and services is not recaverable from the taxation autharity, in which case the GST is recagnised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense ifem os applicable; and

. teceivables and payables are stated with the amount of 6ST indluded.
The net amount of 65T recaverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the bafance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a grass basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and finoncing activities,
which is recoveroble from, or payable to, the taxction quthority ore dlassified as aperating cash flows.

{ommitments and contingendies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the toxation cuthority,

{k Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition Is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquiter's interest in the net fair
value of the identifioble assefs, liabilities and contingent figbilifies.

Following initial recognifion, goodwill is mensured of cost less ony accumuloted impoirment Josses.

Goodwill is not amortised.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events ar changes in circumstances indicate that the corrying valug may he impaired.
ks ot the ocquisition date, any goodwill acquired is ollocated to sach of the castrgenerating units expected to benefi from the combination's synergies.

impairment is determined by assessing the recaverable amaunt of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwil relates.
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For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conminuep)
Whera the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying omount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Where goadwill forms part of o cash-generating unit and port of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the camying amount of the aperation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the aperation.

Goodwill disposed of in this dircumstance is megsured on the basis of the relative values of the aperation dispased of and the portion of the
cosh-generafing unit retained.

{1} Intangible Assets
Aeguired hoth seporately and from o busingss combinotion

Intangihle assets acquired separately are capitalised of cost and from o business combination are capitafised of fair value as of the dute of acquisition.
Following initial recagnition, the cost model is applied to the class of infangible assets.

The useful lives of these intangible assets are assessed 1o be either finite or indefinite.
Where amertisation is charged on ussets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the income statement through the ‘odminisirative expenses’ line item.

Intangible assefs, excluding development casts, created within the business are nat capitalised and expenditure is charged sgainst profits in the year in
which the expenditure is incunred.

Intangible assafs are tested for impairment where on indicator of impairment exists, and in the case of indefinite fived intongibles cnnuclly, either
individually or o the cosh generating unit level. tseful fives are olso exomined on on eanunl bosis and odiustments, where opplicable, ore made on o

prospective hasis.

Rasearch ond development costs

Research costs qre expansed os incurred.

Development expendifure incurred on an individual project is carried forword when its future recoverability con reasonably be regarded as assured.

Fallowing the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost mode! is applied requiring the asset to be carred of cost less any cccumuloted
amortisation and occumulated impairment fosses.

Any expenditure carried forward is amortised over the period of expected future sules from the related project

The corrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not vet in use, or more frequently when on indicatar of
impairment arises during the reporting year indicating thot the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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For THE Year ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Connnutp)

A summary of the policies applied to the Graup's infangibls assets is s follows:

| ] ‘ | Patentsond licences.

J Usefullives . ... .»Hde

| Method of amortisafion 7 - Over legal potent ferm

‘ internally generated /ocquired ' Acquired ]
l Impaitment test /tecoverable amaunt testing ~ Where an indicator of impairment exists T

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net dispasal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

{m) Recoverable amount of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicotor of impairment exists, the
Group makes o formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the canying amount of an asset exceeds ifs recoveroble amount the osset s considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amaunt is the greater of fair value less costs o sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset's volue in use
cannot be estimated fo be close to ifs fair value less costs to sell and it doss not generate cash inflows that are lorgely independent of those from ofher
assefs or graups of assefs, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the osset belongs.

In ossessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted o their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
gssessments of the time value of money and the tisks spacific fo the asset.

{n} Trode and other payables

Trade payables and other payables ore carried of amortised costs and represent ligbilities for goods and services provided fo the Group prior to the end
of the financial year that are unpaid ond arise when the Group becomes obliged fo make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods
ond services.

(o] Interest-bearing founs and borrowings

Al foans and borrowings are initially recognised ot cost, being the fair value of the considerotion received net of issus costs associated with the borowing.

After initial recognifion, interest-bearing toans and horrowings are subsequently measured ot amarfised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised
cost s colculated by foking info account any issue costs, and any discount or premivm on seftlement.

Gains ond losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised and as well as through the amortisation process.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conminuep)
{5} Deracagniticn of financiel assets and Fnancial lichilites

The Group has elected 1o apply the opfion availoble under AASB 1 of odopting AASE 132 and AASB 139 from 1 January 2005. Qutfined below are the
relevant occounfing policies applicable to the derecognition of financiol nssets und financial liabilities for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2008.

Accounting policies upplicable for the yeor ending 30 June 2006

(i} Fingneial ossets
Afinancial asset (or, where applicable, o part of a financial asset or part of o group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cosh flows fram the asset have expired;

. the Gmup retoins the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation fo poy them in full without material deloy to o
third party under o "pass-thiough’ arrangement; or

. the Graup has transferred its rights to receive cash flaws from the asset and either (o) has transferred substartially all the risks and rewards of
the assef, or (b) hos neither transferred nor retained substantiolly all the risks ond rewards of the assef, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has fransferred ifs rights fo receive cash flaws from on assef and has nefther fransferred nor retained substontially olf the risks and
rewards of the asset nor fansferred control of the nsset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's contining involvemant in the asset,
Continuing involvement that tokes the form of o guarntee over the transfarred gsset is measured at the lower of the originel canrying omount of the
asset ond the maximum amount of consideration received that the Group could be required fo repay.

(i) Financial lebilities
A financial iablity is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or concelled or expires.

When an existing finoncial liability is reploced by onother from the same lender on substontially different terms, or the temms of on existing liability ore
substontially modified, such an exchange or modification is freated as o derecognition of the original liability and the recagnition of a new ligbility, and the
difference in the respective carrying ameunits is recognised in profit or loss.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending 30 June 2003

(i} Fironcig! gssafs
A financiol asset was derecognised when the confractua! right to receive or exchange cosh no langer existed.

(i) Financia! liabifiies
A financicl liability was derecognised when the contiactual obligotion to deliver or exchange cash no longer existed.
{q) Provisions

Provisions ore recognised when the Group hos o present obligation (legol or constiuctive) os o resulf of ¢ post event, it is proboble that on oufflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and o relioble estimote can be mode of the amount of the abligation,

Where the Group expects some or cll of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contrect, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of

any reimbursement,

if the effect of the fime value of money is matericl, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at o pre-fax rate that reflects
curtent market assessments of the time value of money and, whete appropriate, the risks specific to the liahility

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due fo the passage of time is recognised os ¢ finonce cost,
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For THe Year ENpeD 31 DECEMBER 2005

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ConminuEp)

{r} Share-based poyment fransactions

The Group provides benefits to employess (including Directors) of the Group in the form of share-based poyment transactions, wheraby emplayees render
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares {equity-setiled hansactions').

There is currently one plan in place fo provide these benefits:
(i) the Employee Share Option Plon (ESQP), which provides benefits to directors ond senior executives.

The cost of these equity-setfled transactions with employees is meosured by reference fo the fair value ot the date at which they ore granted. The foir
value is determined by using the Black-Scholes model, further details of which are given in note 5.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, na account is taken of any perfarmance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of
Phosphagenics Limited {'market conditions').

The cost of equity-setfled transactions is recognised, together with a conresponding incrase in equity, aver the period in which the performance conditions
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled fo the award (‘vesting dafe’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-seftled transactions ot gach reporting date until vesting date reflects {7} the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and {ii) the number of awards that, in the apinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinian is formed based on
the hest available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance condifions being met as the effect of
these conditions is included in the determination of fair value ot grant dafe.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon o market condition.

Where the terms of an equity-settled eward are modified, as o minimum an expense is recagnised os if the terms had not heen modified. In addition, on
expense is recognised for any increase in the volue of the ransaction as u result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-seftled award is cancelled, it is freafed s if it hod vested an the date of cancellation, and any-expense nof yet recognised for the award
is recognised immadiately. However, if o new oward is substituted for the concelled award, and designated as @ replacement award on the date that it is
gronted, the cancelled and new oward are freated as if they were o modification of the origina! award, os described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of eamings per share (see note 17).

The Group has applied the requirements of MSB 1 'Firsttime Adaption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards' in respect
of equity-settled awards and has applied AASB 2 'Share-Based Payments' only to equity instruments granted after 7 November 2002, that had not vested
on or before T January 2005.

{s) Leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantiafly all the risks ond henefits of ownership of the asset are classified as aperating lecses. Inifial direct costs
incurred in negotiating an operafing lease ore added o the carrying amount of the leased assef and recognised over the lease term on the some buses os
the lease income.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on ¢ stioighting bosis over the lease ferm.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ContiNuep)

{1} Inventories
Inventoties are volued ot the lower of cost and net redlisable value. Costs, including an approptiate portion of fixed ond varible overhead expenses,
are ossigned to inventory on hond by the method most appropriat fo each particulor class of inventory, with the mojority being volued on o first in

first aut basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price fess oll estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.

(u) Trude and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generdlly have 30-90 day terms, are recognised and carried o origingl invoice amount less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts. -

An estimate for doubiful debts is made when collection of the full amount is na longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified.

(v} Property, plant and equipment

Flont and equipment is stated of cost less accumuloted dapreciation and any impairment in value.
Land and buildings are measured ot fair value less accumulated deprecigtion.

Depreciotion is colculated on o shaightine basis over the estimated useful life of the asset us follows:
Plant and equinment - aver three to 20 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon dispasal or when no future economic henefits ore expected to urise from the confinued use
of the asset,

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the osser (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amaunt of the
item) is included in the income statement in the year the item is derecognised.

Imgainment
The <arrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impcirment when events or changes in dircumstances indicate the carrying value may

not be recoverable.

For an osset that does nof generate lorgely independent cash inflows, the recoverable cmount is datermined for the cosh-generating unit to which the
usset belangs.

If eny such indication exists and where the corrying volues exceed the estimated recoverable omount, the assets or cash-generating unifs ore wiitten
down to thely recoverable omount.

The recoverable omount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing valug in use, the estimated
futwe cosh flows are discounted to their present value using o pretax discount rate that reflects curent market assessments of the fime value of money
and fhe risks specific fo the gsset,

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement in the cost of sales ling item.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Conminuep)

(W) Revenue

Revenue s recognised to the extent that it is probable that the ecanomic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably meosured. The
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

St of goods

Revenue fram the sale of goads is recognised when the conslidated enfity hos ransferred to the buyer the significant risks ond rewards of ownership of
the goods and the costs in respect of the hansaction can be reliably measured. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of
delivery of the goods to the customer.

Royalties
Royatty revenue is recognised on on accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

infarest revenua
Revenue is recognised os the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument) 1o the ne carrying amount of the financiol asset,

{x} Confribufed equify

Ordinary shares are dlassified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or apfions are shown in equity as o deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

{y} Foreign currency tronslation
Bath the functional and presentation currency Phosphagenics Limited and its Australian subsidiaries is Australion daliars (AS).

Transactions in foreign currencies are inifially recorded in the functional curtency of the exchange rotes ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary
ussets ond linbifities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated ot the rofe of exchange ruling of the bolonce sheet date.

Al differences in the consolidated financial report are token to the income statement.
(2} Comparative informafion - Finandial instruments

The consolidated entity has elected not ta restate comparative infarmatian for financia! instruments within the scope of Accounting Standards AASB 132:
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139: Financiol Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, os permitted on the firsttime
adopfion of AIFRS. The policies that applied for 2004 comparatives are:

Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and corried ot original inveice amount less o provision for any uncollectible debts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made
when collection of the full amaunt is ro longer probohle. Bad debts ore written-off s incurred. Recaivables from reloted parties are recognised ond carried
¢t the nominal amaunt due. Inferest is taken up as income on on accruel basis.

Payables

Linbilities for trade creditors and ofher amounts are carried of cost which is the fair value of the consideration fo be paid in the future for goods and
services received, whether of nat billed to the cansolidated entity. Poyables fo refated parties are carried af the principal amount. fnferest, when charged
by the lender, is recognised as an expense on an accrual basis. Deferred cash settlements are recognised at the present value of the outstanding
consideration payable on the acquisition of an asset discounted at prevailing commercial barrawing rates.

a0
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(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
S $ S $
REVENUE AND EXPENSES
{u} Other Income
Rental revenue 82 134 87 134
Other . 35 . 35
Interest received 333 12 257 171
415 290 339 290
{h) Other Expenses
Net foreign exchange gains/ (losses) 3n . (16} :
Depreciation (58) 21 (19) {2n
Amorfisation 6 - . -
(perating lease rental expenses . (129) (124) (129) {(124)
Employes equity setfled benefits {47) - (47) -
Advertising {514) -
Travel (204) . - -
Other T O L) 9
(989) {154) (227) {154)
(GNSOLIDATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
S S S S
INCOME TAXES
Major components of income fax expense for the
years ended 31 Dacember 2005 and 2004 are:
Cursnt income tax
Deferred incoms fox
Relating fo origination and reversal of temporary differences {1,170) -
Income tax expense recorded in income statement 1,170)
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-fax accounting
profit from operations reconciles to the income
fox expense in the finoncial statements as follows:
(Loss) from continuing operations {8,493) (2,276} (2,585 (2,276
hecounting {loss) before income fax (8,493) {2,276) (2,585) (2,218)
Income tox expense calculoted of 30% (2004: 30%) (2,548) (682) (776) (682)
Non-deductible expenses 1,446 129 129
Unused fox losses and fox offsets not recognised
as deferred tax ossefs 1,102 553 175 553
Reversal of temporary differences {1,170} - - .
Income fax expense reported i income stafement (1,170)
Deferred tax liakilities comprise:
Fair value adjustments an acquisition 36,918 o8 B
36,98 38,088
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4, INCOME TAXES ({ConriNuep)

Unrecognised deferred tax bolonces

The following deferred tax assets have not been
brought to cccaunt os assats:

Tax losses not recognised

e R e §

7
? 553 774 553

553 Y - -

Tax consalidation
Relevance of jox consolidation to the consolidoted enfity

The Company and its wholly-owned Australion resident entities have not formed o tax-consofidated group and wre thersfore taxed os seporate entifies.

5. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee share option plon

The Group hos an employee share options plan (ESOP) for the granting of non-ransfercble aptions o certain Directors and senior executives.
During the vesr, options were issued to Dr. S.N. Webb, Dr. Webb, os o Director of o subsidiary company being an eligible employee.

The five year options have an exercise price of $0.2148 each and, offer an initial tranche of 500,000 options which vest ot the time of grant, wil
vest in five equal franches at the end of cansecutive six manthly periods, with the first tranche vesting on 18 August 2005. The agtions will fapse if:

{0 Br. Wehb ceuses to he on emplayee of the group.
(b} Any vested apfions are unexercised after Close of Business 17 August 2010, being the fifth anniversary of date of issue.

There are no ather service ar performance criteria attached fo these options.

Other relevant ferms and conditions applicable to opfions granted under the ESOP include:

. the exercise price of the options is based on being 95 per cent of the weighted average of shores traded on the
ASX for the five days immediately proceeding the day of offer,

. upon exeicise, these options will be settled in ordinary shares of Phosphagenics Limited.

J the fair value of the optians are estimatad ot the date of gront using the Bluck-Scholes method.

No ESOP options have been axercised in the year to 31 December 2005.

The following share-based payment oriangements were in existence during the period:

Gntdite 0 Bgiy ) bese g
Ao anoddle e d
Employes shate options 3,000,000 18:08-05 170810 0.2148 284,550

The weighted average fair value of the share options granted during the financial year is $47,425 (2004: N,
Optians were priced using the Black-Scholes method.

B
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Notes to the Financial Statements continuea

For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005

Grant date share price
Exercise price
Expected volatiity

| Option life

Dividend yield

Risk-free interest rate

The expected life of the options is based on historical dato and is not necessarily indicotive of exercise potterns that may occur.

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necassarily be the octual outcome.

The fallowing table ilustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of share options issued under the £SOP

Outstanding at heginning of the financial year
Granted during the financial yeor

Forleited during the financial year

Exescised during the finonciat year (1)

Expired during the financiat year

Qutstanding af end of e financial year (i}

Exerciscble at end of the financial yeor

(i) Exercised during the finonddl yeor

2005 2004
Number ~ Weighied average Number  Weighled average
of options exergise price - of options exercise price
S
3,000,000 0.2148
3000000 02148
500,000 0.2148

No share options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan were exercised during the financig) yeor:

(i} Balonce of end of the finoncial year

The share options outstanding ot the end of the financial year had an exercise price of $0.2148, and a remaining contractual life fo 17 August 2010.

L
E

L I
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For THE YeAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
C(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
S S ) S
é. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS-
Auditor of the parent entity
Amaunts received or due and receivable:
Audit or review of the finoncial report 40,000 29,085 60,000 79,085
Toxation sevices 19,500 8,315 19,500 8,315
Other non-gudit services ( ossistance with 32,000 6,700 32,000 6,700
conversion to Intemational Fingncial Reporfing
Reporting Standords) e e e e e
111,500 44,100 L0 44000
The auditor of Phosphagenics Limited is Emst & Young whe were appointed of the beginning of the year, replacing PKF, the previous auditor os

confirmed at the Annual General Mesting of the Company in May 2005, The valuation of the Company's infangible assets was conducted by Deloitte.

7. CURRENT TRADE

AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables (i) 854 44 2
Provision for doubtful debts . . -
854 44 2
Interest receivable 2 - 21
Loan to subsidiary - - 3,000
Research and development tox offset 314 36 -
Provision for non-ecovery (316) (316) - .
Gaods and services tax (GST) 127 21 12 21
ecavrable Ot T R T
1,003 660 3,095 21
{i) Trade receivables are nanvinterest bearing ond are generally an 45-day terms, the excepfion being receivables from rovaty streams

that are receivoble af the fime specified in the relevant confract.

8.  CURRENT INVENTORIES

Raw muterials;

At cost 1 /

Finished goods:

At cost 85 3
b6 7

[ T
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(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
§ S S S
9. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY
e n ot s e owmwan
Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd - - 94 211 94211
CONSOLIDATED PARENT
Plant and Total Plant and Toto)
equipment at cost equipment af cost
S S S
10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Year ended 31 December 2005
At T January 2005, nef of occumulated amortisation 279 279 88 88
Additions 390 390 21 2
Deprediation charge for the year (58) {58) . 19) {19
At 31 December 2005, net of accumuloted omortisation 611 611 90 90
At 1 Jonuary 2005
Cost 545 545 214 210
Accumuloted depreciation (266)  (268) (122) 122)
Nat carrying arount 79 279 88 88
M 31 December 2005
Cost 935 935 231 - 231
Accumuloted depreciation (314 (324 (141 (141)

Net carrying omount 611 611 ) 90 90
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For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
S § $ §
1. GOODWILL
Grass carrying amount
Balonce ot beginning of financial year 34281 34281
Balance of end of financial yeot 34,261 34,261
Accomulated impairment lasses
Balonce ot beginning of finandiol year
Impairment losses for the year
Balonce at end of financial year
Net carrying amount
At the beginning of the financial year 3y 3476
At the end of the finondal year 34,261 34,261

Allocation of goodwill to cosh-generating units
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to 1 individual cashgenerating unit, as follows:

Individual cash-generating units
. Vital Health Sciences Pty Utd

impairraent Tesfing

Goodwill ocquired through business combinations has been allocated fo one individual cash generating unit for impairment festing - Vital Health Sciences
Pty Lid. (VHS). Goodwill is tested for impairment annually.

The recavercble amount has been determined by calculation of the fair volue, which is defined as the amount af which the assef would change hands
between a knowladgeable willing buyer and o knowledgeable willing seller, neither being under o compulsion fo buy or sell

Independent valuers (Deloitte) were engaged to carry out this valuation and chose to use the discounted cash flow method. They, in cooperation with
Phosphagenics’ senior management, prepared long term cash flow projections. Key assumptions of these grojactions included:

. management apinion on future sales and assaciated expenses on ¢ product by product basis;

. different residual lifefime of VHS's patents;

. aflocation of praducts’ value to underlying pafents; and

) probability adiustments {ranging from 0.35 1o 1.00) to individual cosh flows, reflecting various types of risks.

The discount rote used wos between 12% - 13%, based an:

. the required rates of retum on listed companies in o similar business;
. the indicative rates of retun required by suppliers of venture copital; and
J VHS's current level of finondial gearing.

No impairment charge has been recognised for the vear ended 31 December 2005.

i,
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impairment Testing

o Notes to the Financial Statements contnues)
For THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005
C(ONSOLIDATED COMPANY
Intellectual Patent Total Total
Property costs
$ S S N
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Balance at 1 January 2005,
net of accumuleted amortisation 125,262 . 125,262
Addtions - 342 342
Provision for impoirment {3,900) . {3,900)
Write down of Patent costs - (146} {14¢)
Amortisotion expense (6) (6)
Balance at 31 December 2005,
net of accumuloted amorfisation 121,362 190 121,552
A7 lanuary 2005
Cost (Gross carrying amoun) 125,262 125,262
Accumulated omortisation and impairment o o -
Net carrying amount 125,262 125,262
At 31 December 2005
Cost (Grass carrying amouns) 125,262 342 125,604
ficcumulated emortisation and impairment 3300 (5D (4,052)
Net carrying amount 121,362 190 121,552
Net hook value
As ot 31 December 2005 121,362 190 121,552

Intellectual property acquired through business combinations hos been allocated fo ane individual cash generating unit for impairment festing - Vital Healh
Sciences Pty Lid. (VHS). Intelectual property represents the fair value of specific product patents acquired by the Company ot 31 Decerber 2004. Product
patents are deemed to have o finite iife and are amortised from the dute at which significant revenues are earned, aver the remaining patent ferm,

The intellectuc! property is tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment arises. The recoverable amount has been determined by cclculafion of
the fair volue, which is defined as the amount ot which the asset would change fiands betwaen o knowledgeable willing buyer and o knowledgeable

willing seller, neither being under o compulsion to buy or sell.

{ndependent valuers (Delaitte} were engaged to cary out this valuation and chase to use the discounted cash flow meshod. They, in cooperction with
Phosphagenics’ senior management, prepared long term cash flow projections. Key assumptions of these projections included:
management apinian on future soles and associated expenses on o product by product basis;

The discount rate used was between 1 2% - 13%, based on:

different residual fifetime of VHS's patents;
allocation of praducts’ value to underlying patents; and

probability odjustments (ranging from 0.35 to 1.00) to individual cash flows, reflecting various types of risks.

the required rates of retum on listed companies in o similar business;
the indicctive rates of return required by suppliers of venture capital; and

VHS's current level of financiaf gearing.
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12.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS {Continuep)

For the year ended 31 December 2005, an impairment charge of $3.9m has been recognised. The impairment has arisen because of the Diractars’
dedision to place certain projects on hold in favour of dllacating resources to new projects which the Directors believe will add praportionately more volue
to Phosphagenics in the long term.

The result was that although the tatel value of the patents had substantially increased during the year, various individual patents were deemed to be
impaited os the development of the products to which tey were allocated were deferred.

Under AIFRS it is nat permissible either ta increase the patent value, or offset losses in valuation against gains, enly to reduce the value where impairment
has occurred. The valuation carried our by Deloitte ot 31 December 2005, indicated that notwithstanding the impairment to the canrying value of certain
of the patents the overall volue of the partfolia of patents existing at 31 December 2004, hos increased by S68m to $195m.

(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
5 ] S S
13. TRADE AND OTHER
PAYABLES (CURRENT)
Trade poyables () 52 342 10 12
Accrued expenses 1,113 428 166 32
Goods and services fax (GST) payable 327 - 327 -
Qther M 24 3 18

oy 554 534 67

i No interest is charged on the trade poyables for the first 60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged on the outstanding
balance. The consolidated entity has financial risk management policies in place fo ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

14.  PROVISIONS (CURRENT)

Employee benefits S N 1 W 30 14
38 16 30 14

15.  ISSUED CAPITAL

546,758,476 fully paid ordinary shores
(2004: 499,834,001) 145306 3473y 145306 134731
145,304 134 73] 145,306 134 731

48
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For THE YEar ENDED 31 IDECEMBER 2005

15,  ISSUED CAPITAL {Conminuep)
(ONSOLIDATED 2005 2004

No. ' No.
Fully peid ordinary shares
Bolance ot beginning of financial year 499 834 134,731 172,101 39,701
Issue of shares - cash
46,875 11,234 29,967 6,661 -
Issue of shares - non cash ) - - 297,294 89,188
Exercise of options 49 10 472 94
Exchange differences on overseas copital raising . 16 - .
Copifat raising costs RSN (1) NN o A 1.
Balonce of end of financial year 546,758 145,306 499,834 134731
PARENT 2005 2004
No. No.
'000 S ‘000 S

Fully poid ordinary shores
Balance at beginning of finandicl yeor 499,834 134,731 172,101 39,701
Issue of shares - cash 44,875 11,234 29,967 6,661
Issue of shares - non cash {7) - - 297,294 89,188
Exercise of options 49 10 472 94
Exchange differences on overseas capital raising . 16 - .
Capital raising costs : (683) R AT S
Balance at end of finandial yeor 546758 145,306 499834 134,731

Fully paid ordinary shares carry ane vote per share and carry the tight to dividends.

{i) The fair value was defermined to be the market price ot date of issue. The shares were issued on 31 December 2004 os consideration for the
acquisition of Vital Health Sciences Pty Lid.

Share options

As ot close of business on 37 December 2005, there ware o totol of 59,644,712 unexercised POHOB options held on the morket a5 well as 3,000,000
unexercised options issued under the Employee Share Gption Plan (ESOP).

POHOB share options carry na rights to dividends and no vating rights. Further defails of the ESOP e contained in note 5 to the financial stetements.
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LIMITED

16.  RESERVES

(ONSOLIDATED PARENT
1005 2004 2005 2004
§ § § S
Asset revaluation 27312 77812 .
Emaloyee equityseftled benefits 47 - 47
27,859 27812 47
Asset ravaluation reserve
Bolunce ot beginning of finonciel vear - -
Revulunfion incements/ (decremants) 39737 39732
Deferrad tax lability erising on revaluation {11,920) {11.9200
Bufonea of end of financiol yeor 27812 77817
The iniament fo this reserve relotes to thie acquisition
of Vital Health Scisnces Pty Lsd and determines the foir
vitlve of the intelectuel proerly aeguired.
Emplayes equity-settled benefits reserve
Botance of bagining of financiaf yeor . .
Fair volue of aptions vasted {7 47
Befonce ot end of financial year 4 47

The employee shore apfion ond shore plon seserve
is sed to record the value of equity benefits provided

to employses ond directors os part of el remunsration.
For further datafis efer 1o Note 5 in the Financial Staterments.
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For THE YeAR EnDED 31 DECEMEBER 2005
£ONSOLIDATED
2805 2004

{enls pershare  Cents per share
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basi¢ earnings per share:
From confinuing operatiotis {1.45) {1.29)
Dituted sarmings per shure:
from continuing operations {1.45) {1.29)
Basic earnings per shore

Besk eamings per shore omousts ore coleulated by dividing net profit for the year aitiioutuble o aidinery equity holders of the parent by the
waighled average number of oidinary shuras outstanding during the year.

Dituted surnings per share

Dituted somings per shuse amouets ore coleulated by dividing the net profit attiibutoble to aidinary shareholders (efter deducting interest on
e convertible redesmalile preference shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shores eutstanding dusing the yeor {udiusted for
the effects of dilutive aptions and diluiive convertible non-cemulative redzemiable preference shoves).

The share aptions sutstanding wers not dilufive, o5 theit conversion would result in o raduction fn the foss per share,

The following seflacts the fcome and share detu used in e fotal aperations bosic and diluted eamings per share compulntions:

18.

7005 2004

S S

famings from confinuing operations 7,323 (2,276)
2005 2004

Ho."008 Ho."000

Weighted overage number of ordinary shores

for the purposes of basic earnings per share 503,978 176,546
(ONSCLIBATED PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2604
S S ) $
COMPMITARENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Operating lenses
Lensing arrengements

Nor-coneslloble aperafing leases relate to fhe rent of office nceommadation,

Hon-tancellobie operating lease puymants
Hot Janger thon T yeor 101 106 101 106
Longer than 1 vear and not longer than 5 years - 255 - 255
Longer thao 5 years - - - .
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(GNSQLIDATER PARENT
2005 2004 2005 2004
] ] S §

19,  DIVIDENDS
Dectored and Poid

Fully paid ordinary shares

nterim dividend:

Franked fo 0 % {Prior yaar: 0 %)

Final dividend: (i} . . . 5,288
Franked to 0 % (Prior yeur. 0 %)

PARENY
2605 2004
§ 5

Franking uccount bafonce

{i} On Februory 27 2004, in eecordonce with o sesclution of Diractors, the Company orovided o dhidend of $5,288,000 fo shorsholders
tonsisting of an in spacie distribution of the Company's investient in Petrecyda tintited to Phosphagenies Limited's shoseholders o
registered on February § 2004,

The dividend wes paid on the busis of ane Patvecycle Limited shore for ench 10 Phosphegenics Bvited shases held. The carrying volue of Patrecyde
Limited was determined by the Birectors to sepresent s foit valuz. The Compony has no franking credits and oecordingfy the dividend was unfranked.

20.  SEGMENT INFORMATION

Products and services within each business segment

For managemsent pumoses, the consoliduted enfity is organised info two major opeiafing divisions - Nutraceuticuls and Phormaceuicels. These divisions ore e
besis on which the consofidated entity reports its primery seqment infosmotion. The péndipal products and services of each of these divisians are o fellows:
Licansing of dietary supplements, production and sele of products for the personal cars industry.

Licansing of pharmacauticals and tionsdermal techinolagies.

The following tables represent revenue and profit information and cerfuin essat and fiebility information regarding busingss segments for the years ended
31 December 2005 gnd 2004,

Segment revenuss Externol sales intersegment (i} Other Totul
205 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
S $ § S S b} $ §
Nutraceyficals 1,682 - - . . . 1,687 .
Pharmaceuficals » 1,292 - - . . . 1,22
Totaf of off seguients 2974 .
Unafiocated 415 290
Consolidoted 3,389 90

{1 For the yeor ended 31 Becember 2004, Phosphagenics Limited operted o5 u registered Pooled Devalopment Fund. The Compuny's only
primary husiness was investmert and ifs only secondory eographical sagment wos opersting i Australie,
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Segment result

a LR
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Notes to the Financial Statements «ontnues

For Tue Year EnpeD 31 DECEMBER 2005

2005 7004

S S

(ontinuing operations: .
Hutenceuticals 143 .
Phormoesuticals {2,165) .
{nallocated 470 (2.276)

Profir bafore income fox expense
Income tax expense
Profit for the period from continuing opetctions

(8493 (776
1,170 -

(7328 (2276

Segment ussets and fiabilifies Assels Lishilities
2005 2004 005 2004
S § S §
Hutroceuticals M . ) -
Phomaceuticols 12 .
Totot of ¢fl segments 123 - é .
Unailbcated 170349 167736 38929 38898

Consoliduted

171672 167,736

38935 38898

Qther segment information Depreciation and Research
amorfisation of expenses
sagment assefs

2005 7004 2005 2004

s § § S

Nuteaceuticals 12 . 287 .
Phormaeeuticals ] 2,787

Geogrophical sements v
The conselidated enfity's two divisions operata in ane principal geographical areg - the BSA
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21.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

{@)  Detuils of Key Manugement Personnel

Vizord, AL Indapendent Cheirmon (Nen-Executive}
Addison, J 1 Indzpendent Director {NonExacutive
Mill, § Indzpesdent Director {Non-Exacutive]
Ogry, £ Director (Execuiive}

Patfison, | 6 {lriaf Opesating Officer s(Fxacutive)
Preston, M D Diractor (Mon-Execufive)

Rosen, H HMonoging Diractor (Exerufive)

Butler, 3 & fice President - Nulracsuficals
{liilion, M Finoncial Controller

Kararikolopoulos, K Manegsr Corporate Development
Webb, S Director - Vited Health Services Pty btd

West, S M Diractor - Vite} Heolth Services Py id
(b Remunerifion of Key Managemens Personnel

{i} Remuneration Poficy
The Cormpany's policy for determining the nature and amounts of emoluments of Non-Executive Directoss, Executive Birectors and seion
moaagement is os follows;

The Boord 5 resporisible for moking recommendations on sermuneration polidies and packages. The Broad remuneration palicy is to ansure the
semuneration packaga propery reffects fhie person's duties and responsibilities; and that remunerction is competitive in attracting, retaining ond mofivaring
paople of the highest quafity,

Remunaration packages contain the foflowing key elements:

. Safary and faes;

. Superantuation; and

. {nfious issued under the Company's Employee Share Opfion Plan,

Apart from termination benefits, which ocoue under stohute (such os unpoid enauat Jeavs, long service leove ond superunsvation henefits}, there are no
efiremnant henafits, The Company poys superannuation of the raquired superannuation guarates rofe and selury sucrificed contributions into g
accurnuloted banefit type fund ond therefore tere ore o futurs fiabilifies in respact of Hase payments.

(G Pattison s subject to o Hreemonth notice period and Dr £ Ogru, o one-month nofice patiod,

The nggregate remuneration paid fo Non-Executive Directors is capped of tie leve! opproved by shureholders for fiis purpase. Non-Executive Directers'
remuneration reflects the additional committess that they mey serve on from fime 4o time. Thers are no temmination banefits for HonExecutive Directors,

Remunsration is seviewed annually by the Board of Directors. The process consists of o review of compunywide, business unit and individuat performance,
relavunt compasative remuneration i1 the market ard Wtemnally, and where oppropriate, extemal advice on poficies und proctices,
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For Tue Year EnDeD 31 DECEMBER 2005

21.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES {Conmmuep)

(iy  Remunemtion of key monagemant personnel

The following table discloses the remunenation of the Directors of the Company:

Shoit - Term Post- Share Based Tofal

Employment Poyment

Sulary & fees  Superennuation Options
2005 § S S
Pattison, | 6 229,358 20,647 250,060
Rosen, H 169,000 8910 177,910
Ogry, £ 125,000 . 125,000
Vizadd, AL 68,104 6,129 74,233
Preston, M D 58,681 . 58,651
Mills, § 22,385 12915 35,360
hddison, L 32,385 2,915 35,300
Short - Term Post- Share Bused Total

Employment Payment

Saiary & fees  Superennuation Options
2004 S 5 S
Patfison, 1 6 191,132 17,207 208,334
Rosan, H 185,000 4,500 189 500
Vizaid, A L 60,000 5,400 45,400
Rebuck, A 9,586 843 10,44%
West, S 100,000 . 160,000
Fisher, A 4301 387 4,688
Preston, M D 3,209 - 3,209
Mills, § 7,849 9,958 17,807
Addison, §L 20,000 1,800 21,800
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21.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES ({Connmutp)

The foffowing foble disclases the remuneration of the executives of the Company und group execufives of fie consolidoted entity:

Short - Term Post- Share Based Total

Employment Peyment

Salory & feas  Superannuation Dptions
2005 S $ § $
Butler, 8 R 73,991 96,000 - 169591
Webb, SN 115,939 - 47 475 163 364
Chition, M 160,000 2.000 . 109,000
West, S M 100,000 - - 100,000
Karuikolopoulos, K 84,098 7569 - N 4667
Short - Term Post- Share Besed Tota!

Employment Payment

Solory & fees  Superannuetion Options
2004 § § S 5
Butler, B R 73,962 14,102 . 88,064
(hilton, M 53,025 3,834 . -
West, SM 100,000 . 106,600

2005 2004

Aggregates (onsolidated Pacent Consolidated Parent
S § S 3
ShortTerm 1,178,941 1,176,851 808062 808062
PostEmployment 164,080 164,080 58,046 58,046

Share Bused Poyment 47435 47425 .

1,390,446 1,390,44¢ 866,110 864,110
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21, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES {Conmmutp)

{cd  Option holdings of Key Management Personnel

Execufive share options of Phesphogenics

Sperifiad directors

Addsson, J . - . . - 742009

fifs, § - - . - < 142009

Ogry, B - . . - - 162009

Pattison, 16 350,000 . . - 350,006 762009

Preston, M0 . - : - - 742008

Rosen, H 5,050,000 - - - 5050000 762009

Yizoid, Al 1,200,000 . . - 1,200,000 762009

Specified exacutives

Butler, BR . - - . - 742009

Chilton, # 206,000 - . - 200000 742009

Koranikotopoutos, X . . . . . . - . .
Wabb, SN - 3000000 18805 - 3,000,000 742000 02148 285 500,000
West, S 2,675,000 - 2E75000 762009 .

9,475,000 3,000,000 . - 12,475,000 0.2148 285 500,000

Al Phosghaganics Limited share options issued fo Ms. 5., Webb duriug the financia} yeus were made in occordunce with the provisions of e Empleyee
Share Option Plan (ESOP). Options held by ofher Diractars wese acquired os part of the origingl subsriptions for sheves i Phosphagesics in 1999 During
the financial year, no opfions were exercised by specified Directors and executives for ordinary shares in Phesphagenics Limited. No amounds remin
urpoid on the opfians exerdsed during the finandial year of vear end.

Further datuils of the Employes Share Opticn Plan and of share options granted duting the finandial yeor is contuined int nate 5 to the finandal stuternants.

{d}  Shareholdings of Key Morugement Personnel

Fully naid ordinary shares of Phosphagenics Limited

Addison, i 4,000 . - . 4000
hifs, § 107,667 . . 40,000 167,667
Ogru, E 1,711,610 . . - 2NL,610
Paitison, 16 367 667 . . 60,000 427 647
Prestor, MD 2372659 . - - 2372659
Roser, H 4,030,143 . - 50,000 44,080,143
Vizad, AL 123411 . . . 123,41
Buler, BR 7,626,406 . . 60000 7,686,406
Chitron, M 150,000 . - . 150,000
Karanikelopoutos, K . - - 4,200 4,200
Wabh, SN 20,000 . . - 20,000
Wast, SM 59.171,143 - - - 59171143

136,684,706 - - 134,200 136918908
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22.  RELATED PARTY DiSCLOSURE

The consolidated fmonciol statements inclode the finandial statements of Phosphugenics Limited and the subsidiaries fisted in the following teble.

Vira! Heafth dustralio 100 100 94,211 94,211
Sciences Py Ud

Predoim Teehmologies Aushrelio 100 100

Pry Ltd

Adoil Pry L Austrelf 100 100

{a)  Other tronsactions with key manogement personnel
Thte profit from operations indludes no irers of revenue and expensa that resufted fram transuctions ofher than iemuneration or equity holdings, with
spedified direciors or their personeily-sefoted entities:

{6} Transactions with other reluted poriies
{ther reloted puriies include:

U subsidiaries;

Duting the year, Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd bowowed $3,000,000 from Phosphagenics Unmited, No paat of these funds has bean repaid. There ase no
ferms and condifions oftachied to this loan,

No mnounts wese provided for doubtful dabis relating to debts due from related parties uf reporting date (2004: M.

Transacfions iavelving the parent enfity

During the nancict yaar, Phosphegarnics Limited recognised ¢ nsf raceivable of $3,000,000 (2004: N} from its wheliy-owned subsidiary for their
working copite! requirements for the curent period. There are no terms ond condifions aackiad to the repayment of s receivable.

{d Parent entities
The pareat enfity in the consolidated entity & Phosphagenics Limited,

23.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

These have been no significant events subsequent fo bulonee date.
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24,

{u}

(b}

CONSOLIDATED PARENT
Hote 2005 2004 2005 2004
$ 5 S §
NOTES 10 THE
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Reconcilintion of cosh end cash axuivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow stotement, cosh
and cosh equivalants incudes cash en hond end in
Banks ond investments in mensy market instuments,
net of autstonding bank everdrafts, Cash and cash
squivalents of the end of the finandiol year as shown
the cash flow starement i reconciled to the related irems
in the balance sheat os follows:
Cush ot Bank 3189 1221 2,150 6,737
Short Term Deposits 10,000 - 10,000 .
13,189 7,222 12,150 4,737
Reconciliation of profit for the period fo
nel cash flows from operating udlivities
Net Profi (8499 (2,276} 12,585} 12,276)
Adjustments for:
Depredotion and amostisafion of nion-current assets 64 N 19 n
{opitafization of patent expenses (196) . . .
impairment losses 3,900 . . -
interest received {333) {121} (257 (121
Shara of associate's net losses, net of omortisation adiusimen! . 8 . g
{hanges in net ossets and fiubilities, aet of efferts
from ocquisifion nd disposel of husinesses:
{lncrease) /decredse in assefs:
Trade recatvables ond ofher receivables (936} 45 {74 45
Inventories 159 . \ .
Prapayments 250 {13 (36 %
Increase/4decreasa) in tiobifities:
Trade payehies and othes poyebles 874 54 519 55
Government grants 356 . - .
Provisions 20 16
Nat cash from /(used in) operating ceiivities (4,551 (1,478 {2,398} {1,478}
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25.  FINANCAL INSTRUMENTS

{0} Financial risk manogement chiedives

The Group’s pincipa) fingucinl instruments comprise of cash and shorkfern deposits.

Thia Group doss not enter into or frade financial instruments, including dervative financial instruments, for speculative purposss.

The Graug's activifies expose it prirnarily to the financiel risks of changes in foreign wrrency excionge rotes.

The Group fias various other financiol instruments such os frode debrors ond rade creditors, which urise divactly from ifs oparafions,

{iy  Significant accounting poficies

Defeis of the sigaificont accounting poficies and methods odopted, inchuding the uiteris for recogrition, the basis of mausurement and e basis oy which
income ond expenses are 1ecognised, in sespact of each closs of finondol asset, finuncial iubiity and equity instument ure disclosed in nate 1 fo the
fingncial stotements.

{d Foreign currency risk management -

The Graup fies transactional cumenty exposures. Such exposuie arises from sales or purchases by un oparating unit in currencies ofher than the unit's
megseremant cumency. The Group monage this exposure through the use of @ USD bank accounl,

{d)  Interest rate risk monogement

Tho consclidated anfity is only exposed fo interest rate fisk n the aren of cosh ot honk os ¥ has no dorrowings. The interest rate risk surounding cosh o
burk is minimal,

{a}  Credit rick management

{redit risk refers 1o the risk that o counterpurty will default on its contracual obfigutions resulfing in fisonciof loss to the group. The group hos adopted o
poficy of only dealing with creditwarthy counterparties ond ebtaining suffident colloteral where oppropricte, as @ means of wifigoting He risk of finonciot
lass from defauls. The consolidoted entity exposure and the credit rafings of s counterporfies aie confinuously moritered ond the aggregute value of
transactions concluded are spread amaongst approved counterparties. The consofiduted enfity mecsures credit sk on a fuir valus basis.

Thi consolidated enfity doss not have any significont credit risk exposuss 1o any single counerarly or any group of counterparties having similar
chorncteristics. The cradit risk on liquid funds end derivativa fnencial instruments is limited bacouse the counterpaifies are banks with high ceditiufings
assigned by intemational credibiating agencies,

The corrying amount of fingncial assets recorded in e finondial stotements, net of oy allowances for losses, represents the consolidated eatity's
meximum exposuta o credif risk without faking account of the value of any colloteral obtaied:

) Liguidity risk management

The consoliated enfity managas liquidiy sisk by maintaining edequate reserves, banking fuciities and reserve banowing faclities by continuously
monitering forecost ond actuol cosh flows and matching the maturity profiles of finandiol essets ond fiohilfes,
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25, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ({Conmnr}

(g} Fuir value of financiol instraments

Bxcept os detoiled in the folowing tuble, the Directors consider that the comying amount of financicl assets and finandial liobifiies racorded in the finonciol
stafements approximiates to their fuir values (2004: net fair value.

The fair vatues and net fair values of financial assels and Financiel tiobilities ore determined os follows:

. the foir vehee of fingncinl assets ond finonciul abilities with standard temis ond condifions and tiaded on ocfive liquid markefs ore determined
with reference to quoted market prices;
. ihe fair value of other financiul assets ond finandiol Yiabilifies are determined in accordunce with geserally nccepted pricing models bosed o

discounted cosh flow unalysis; and
Transuction costs ore included in the detssminafion of net fair valie,

The Tollowing kebies detad the foir volue of finoncial ossets and fingndinl fiehities:

(ONSGLIDATED

2005 Casrying amoust Foir vale
N

Financiol ossets

Cushh and cosh equivalents 13,189 13,189

Trade and othes recaivalles 1,003 1,003

Other tecaivables 3%0 390

14,582 14,582

Finandal iobifities

Trade poyables 51 52
Other poyables 15N 1,51
Deferred govemment gronts 356 356
1979 1,979
2004 Currying amount Fair value
S
Financiol assets
Cusht and cash equivalents 7 1221
Trode and other receivables 660 640
Other recivables 45 45
1977 7927
financiaf liahifities
Hrade payublas 342 342
Other payebles 452 452

794 7194
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25.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  {Conrmutn)

PARENT
2005

Finandial ussels
Cash ond cush aquivalents
Tiade and other 1ecsivables
Oflier receivables

Finoncial Jinbilisies
Trade payubles
Qther payables

2004

Financial ussets

{osh and cush equivelents
Tusde and otfer 1ecelvables
{Other receivables

Finoncial liohilisies
Trade payubles
Qther poyables

Interest Rate Risk

(arrying amount Fuir value
$

12,150 12,150

3,095 3,095

Bl 8}

15,326 15,326

10 10

524 524

534 534

{urrying amouat Fair value
S

6,737 6737

21 2

45 5

6,803 6,803

11 12

50 50

62 52

The following tuble sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the flaandal instruments that are exposad to interest rate 7isk.

CONSOLIDATED

2845
Flouting Rate
{osh ond cosh
equiveents

2084
Floating Rate
{ash and cosh
aquivalants

Varichle  Maturity dates  Hon interest
interes) fessthan  1-5yeors More than bearing Total
rate | year 5 years
§ S § S S S
13,189 13,189
13,189 13,189
Variohle  Maturify dates  Hon interest
interest rate lessthan  1-5years Hore than beering Tota!
| year 5 years
$ § § $ § S
711 722
1,222 7222
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25.

FIEANCIAL HSTRUMENTS [Contmucn)

PARENT

2005
Floting Rute
Cash and <osh
equivelents

2005
Foating Rate
Cush ond ash
gyuivalents

Variahle Muaturity dofes Hon interest
inferest rote Less than 1-5 years fare than bearing Totel
1 year 5 years
§ $ § $ S S
12150 12,150
12,150 . 12,150
Vorioble Moturity dates Hon interest
inferest rote Less than 1.5 years Rorethen  ~ bearing Taal
] year 5 years
5 § § $ $ S
6,737 6,737
6,137 6,737
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26.  IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The impocs of adopfing AIFRS on the total equity and profit after tax s reported undes previous Australian Generolly Accepted Accounting Prindiples
("AGARP*) ute lustiated helow,

Fifect of AHFRS on the bulance sheet as ot 1 January 2004

{OHSOLIDATED PARENT
Bl of Effed of
Super-seded transition Superseded  transilion
policies” 1o AIFRS AIFRS policies” 1o AIFRS AIFRS
Hiole S S S S S $
{urrent assels
Cosh & cash equivelsnts 1312 - 2312 2.312 . 2312
Trade & other receivables 66 : bt b6 . 46
Other finoncial assets 13 : 13 13 . 13
Other 32 . 32 32 . 32
Tote! current ussels 1423 - 1473 7423 - 1473
Hon-current assets
lnvestments cecounted for
using the equity metliod ¢ 26,689 {15,823 11,066 26,889 (15873 11,066
Other financiol assats . . . . . .
Fioparty, plont and equipment 9 - 94 %6 . 94
Totat non-carrent assals 26,985 {15,823} 11,162 76,985 (15,823 11,162
Totef ossels 7% 408 {15,823) 13,585 29408 (15,823) 13,585
Current fiohilities
Tradz & other payables 25 - 25 25 - %
Totu! current linbilifies 25 - 25 35 - 25
Hon-current Habifities
Total non-current fiabifities - . . . -
Tele! fiabilifies 25 . 25 25 . 76
Het assels 29383 {15,823} 13,560 29,383 (15.823) 13,560
Equity
Share capitel 32,701 . 39,701 39701 - 39701
Asset revoluation reserve d 15,315 {15,314} . 15,315 (15,315 .
Refuined cemings/{ossas) e {25,633 (508) {26,141 {25,633 {508)  (26,141)
Total equity 29,383 115,823 13,560 29383 (15823 13,560

* Reported bakmee sheet for the vear ended 31 December 2003,
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26.

IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN TQUIVALENTS

TO INTERNATICNAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS  (Conrinuen)

Effect of AFRS on the income slatement for the finendial year ended 31 December 2004

CONSOLIDATED PAREXT
Eifed of Effed of
Superseded tronsificn Super-seded transition
policies* 1o AIFRS AIRRS polides* 1o AIFRS AIRRS
Hote $ S b S S
Other income 290 290 290 290
Shara of profits of assodiates
ond joiny controlled entities
cecounted for using
the equity metiiod a (1,700 728 (973) {1,701 728 {973)
Employse henefits expense (51) - (511) (511 - CH)
Administrotiva sxpensas b (167} 144 (23) (167) 144 23)
Qccupation and
commnicaticn expenses (232) (237 (232) 1232)
Lonsulfing expenses 673 (673) (673) {673)
Qiber axpenses {154) (154) (154) {154
Profit/(loss) hefore
income o expense {3,148) 871 12,278) {3,148} 872 (2,276)
income tox expense - - . . - .
Profit/{loss) From
continying operations (3,748) 8n 12,276) 13,148) §72 {2,276)
Profit/{loss} for the period {3148) 872 {2,276 {3,148) 872 ({2774)
Profit/(loss) astributable to »
members of the parent entity (3,748) 87? {2,276) {3,148) 872 (2.276)

* Reported financial results for the yeor ended 31 December 2004




en v o rnhn AL B w DO L I R LA

Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Statements «ontined

For ToE Year EnpeD 38 DIECEMBER 2005

26. IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ({Continuep}

Eltect of AIFRS on the balance sheet os af 31 December 2004

(ONSGLIDATED PARENT
Effed of Etfoct of
Supar-seded transition Superseded  hansition
poticies™ to AIFRS AIFRS policies* 1o KRS fFRS
Yote S S S ) 5
Current ossels
{ash & cosh equivalents 71222 . 7222 4731 5,737
Tiode & oter recaivablas 540 . 660 A 2]
Inventories 7 . 7 . -
Other 45 . 45 45 45
Total eumrent gssefs 7934 . 7934 6,803 6,803
Norrcument assels
Other finoncied ossets . . . 106408 0219 94
Propasty, plant ond equiprient 7% B 27% 88 . 88
Goodwill € . 34,26} 34,261 ; .
Intungible gssats b 105,820 19442 125,262 . . -
Totol non-curent ossels 106,0%9 53,703 159802 106,49 (023977 9479
Totel ossets 114,033 53703 167734 113,299 (12,197 100,102
{orent fiubilfies
Tade & other poyobles 794 . 794 62 62
Provisions 14 . 16 4 14
Deferad tax hability g - 38,088 38088 - -
Total corrent fabiities 810 38088 383898 76 716
Norcurret fohififies
Total nan<urrent fiobilities - . . . -
Total fickifities 810 38088 38898 76 . 76
Net dssats 113,223 156415 1283838 113,223 (12,197 161,026
Equity
Shata copifol 134,731 - 1IN 134,731 134,731
Asset revaluation reserve 0,d 4,243 2356 7817 4243 U4 M3 .
Retained eornings g (25,751) (7,554) {33705 (25751 (2954 (33705)
Pasent nfity inferest 113223 15,615 178,838 113,223 2,197 101024
Total squity 113,223 15615 178838 113,423 (12,397 101,026

* Repatted financial position for the finondiaf yeor ended 31 December 2004.

Effect of RIFRS on the cash flow staiement for the finoncial year ended 31 December 2004

Thesa are no material differences between Hie cash flow stotement presented under AFRS and the cosh flow statement presented under the

superseded policies.
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26. IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS
7O INTERNATIOMAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS {Conmnuep)

Hotes io the reconciliafions of income und equity

o)  Equity Accounting Movements

Resenrch ond development expenditere wos copitolised under AGAAP, fiowever ynder AIFRS only development expendinure & affowed to be copitalised.
Therefore, previously capitalised raseusch expenditurs is required o be reversed to sccumuloted fosses. Addifionally, ofl wmortisation assaciated with the
previously capitclised research expanditure is required to be reversed. An equity accounted odjustmient is then required ta reflect the 34.7 par cent
investment by e Company in Vire) Health Scieuces Pty td {VHS).

Uuider AIFRS, sevelugtions of identifiohle intongible assets are anly permittad if the specific asset con be troded in an active market. The idemifiohle
infangibes in both VHS and Petrecydle Linvited (n which Phosphagenics timited had a 30 gt cant interest) cannot be traded in an ocive market and
therefors the ofiginal odiusimanis token up by Phosphagenics Limired due fo revoluntion of these intangibles hos fo be reversed. Phosphagenics Limited
origiafly eccounted for thess revaluations as on ncreose in the equity sccounted invesiment und ¢ respective increase in the Asser Revaluation Resarve.

) Amartisation of Goodwil
Uuder AIFRS, omertisalion of goodwill & not oflowed. Rather, goodwill is requlody tested for impainment. Thersfore previous amartisation is fo be reversed
to Accumulated Losses.

(¢ Goodwit on consofidution
Phosphagenics is required fo assass the foir value of tongible and intongible ossets ond liabififies g5 4 result of the husiness cambination, Therefore, of
euch stoge of e combination, Phosphugenics Umited bas deferniined the fair volue of assets end Fabilities attributable to that acuisition.

Goadwifl represents tfie axcass of the cost of e business combination ever the fair vatue of niet tangible wnd intangitile assets acquited.

(d)  Asset Revefuotion Reserve

To bring the Miellecuol propatty up to ifs fuir value s at the date of acquisiiion, Phosphagenics Limited is required to incranse the volue of it original
3.7 per cent halding in VHS. This is requiced to be brought fo the Asset Revaluation Reserve. 1n addiion, the reserve in respect of the investment i
Patrecycle requires teversing to orcumulated losses under AIFRS.

(e} Refuined eomings
The effact of the shove odjustments on retained earings is s follows:

CONSDLIDATED PARENT

1 Jan 2004 3% Dec 2004 | fon 2004 31 Dec 2004

Hote S 5 § §

Resaarch expenditure written off a (508} {784) {509 (784}
Eguity occounfing adjustmants 8 432 . 437
Reserve revarsed d {8,042) . 18.042)
Goodwil no fonges omorfised < - 440 - 440
Total adiustaent fo refained samings {508) {7,554) (508) {7,954}

tf Adoption of AASB 132: Finonciol Inshuments: Bisclosure and Presentation and AMSB 139: Finaneial Instruments: Racognition ond Heasurement.
Titere was na impact on e Income Statement and equity on adoption of ASB 732 and ALSB 139,
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26. IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Conmnuen)

Nates to the racondiliations of income und equity {cont]
(k) Deferred Tox Lickifities

HIFRS sequiras 6 company fo recognise the pofential future tax fiobiliies essociated with futue income desived from ucquired ussats in respect of which
fhere ura no deductions wvailbie for tax purpases.

Under MFRS, enfities are raquired to ecognise deferied tax liabitifies whenever the recovary or setflement of the accounting camying emount of an gsset
would moks future fax poyments forges than they wauld be f such secovery wers to fiove o fux consequencas. The purchase of inteflecual property
ossociuted with VHS by definition hos o cost base of zeto and is going to be used to genercte futuse revenues {fie basis fer its voluation]. Generally
where recovery is through use the relevant tax base will be fhe value of the funue fox deductions usseeioted with the use of the esset in gaining or
producing assessable ircorme. As Fhiosphagenics ks not elected to consolidate for income fux purposes the degraciuble basis of the Inteflectua! Property
(1P} in VHS semains unchenged on acquisition, ond has been ussessed os nil for ofl I,

I uecordonce with AIFRS, Phiosphagenics was required fo recogrise the fair value of e ossefs of ¥HS on oecouniting consofidation. As result of
recoguising this uplfs in the accounting velue of he 1B Phosphiagenics is required to recognise an assodiated defamed tox fiabiity, being the tcrease in
tux poyments thar wil arise through the realisction of the carrying valus of the (P thiough use. As the future use of the 1P does not give rise 1o fax
deducions for VHS, Phiosphogenics & required o recognise 30% of the camying value of the IP as o deferred tax ficbilty

{i} Provisional accounting

It the falf year regorfing period to 30 June 2005, the gioup foak udvantags of the provisional eccounting rules in AASB 3: Business Combinatias i
detesmining e fair valus of the ussets and Habifities scquired i s acquisition of the remining issved capital of VHS. &s part of the ocquisition
accounting, the group obteined on ndependent valyotion of the identfiohle infangle assels which resulted in o uplift in the volue provisionally ossigned.
The effect of the valuation an the acquisition accouttting has baan recorded in the balance sheet of 37 December 2004,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

=},

Sl ErNST & YOUNG 5 Erost & Young Sudiding B Tel 639286 6000
8 Exhibition Siepet Fax 61 3 865D 2777
Meiboume VIC 3000 X 2493 Melbouine
Australiy
GPO Box 67

Melbourne VIC 3001

Independent audit report to members of Phosphagenics Limited

Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosures and directors responsibility

The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, staternent of changes in equity,
statement of cash flows, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’
declaration for Phosphagenics Limited (the company) and the consolidated entity, for the year
ended 31 December 2005. The consolidated eatity comprises both the company and the entities it
controlled during that year.

The directors of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and
fair view of the financial position and performance of the company and the consolidated entity, and
that complies with Accounting Standards in Australia, in accordance with the Corporations dct
2001, This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal
controls that are designed o prevent and detect frand and error, and for the accounting policies and
accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion to the
mermbers of the company. Qur audit was conducted in accordance with Austratian Auditing
Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of
material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors sueh as the use of
professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the
availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that
all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial yeport presents
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations 4et 2001, including compliance with Accounting
Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view
which is consistent with our understanding of the company*s and the consolidated entity’s financial
position, and of their performance as represented by the resuits of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

. examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report; and
. assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT {Conmmnuep)

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately
reflected in the financial report and the remuneration disclosures. These and our other procedures
did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or reasonableness of the business
plans or strategies adopted by the directors and management of the company

Independence

We are independent of the company and the consolidated entity and have met the independence
requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporarions Act 2001. We
have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration. The
Auditors’ Independence Declaration would have been expressed in the same terms if it had been
given 1o the direciors at the date this audit report was signed. In addition to our audit of the financial
report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

Audit opinion

In our opinion:

1. the financial report of Phosphagenics Limited is in accordance with:
(2)  the Corporations Act 2001, including:

) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Phosphagenics Limited and
the consoiidated entity at 31 December 2005 and of their performance for the year
ended on that date; and

(i)  complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations
Reguiations 2007; and

(b)  other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Austrafia.

,../ L
S > N 3
f:.’* S () & eeet 7/

Emst & Young

-

% P '/é////

Don Brumiey
Partner
Melboumne

16 March 2006

Lizkility Jimited by a seieme approvad wnder
Professional Stunderds Leaislation
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Direcors' DecLARATION

The Directors declare that:

() inthe Diectors' apinon, tilere uie reasonable grounds to believe ot the Compeny will be vble to pay its debits os and when they become due
and payabl;

() inthe Diectors’ apinion, the attoched finandial stotements and notes thereto are in occordonce with the Caporations Act 2001, incuding
compliance with accounting stondards and giving o true oud fuir view of the financiol position and performante of the conselideted enfity; and

(¢ the Directors have been given the dedluiations required by 5.2954 of the Corporations Act 2001

At the dote of this declaration, the Company is within fhe dass of companies offected by ASIC Closs Order 98,/1418. The nuture of the deed of cross
quorantes is such that each company which is party to the deed quarantees to each crediter poyment in Tull of any debt i accordance with the deed of
{{0sS guaranies.

fn the Directors' opinion, there are teasonble grounds 1o believe that the Company and the companies to which the ASKC Cluss Drder applies, os detaled
in wiofe 52 fo the Faandial stotements wifl, os o group, be oble Yo meet any ohfigatians or liabififias o which they are, or may become, subject by virtue
of the Deed of Cross Guarante,

Signed in accorduace with o seselufion of the Directors mude pussuont 1o 5.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001

On bahalf of the Boord

Harry Rosen
MANAGING BARECTOR

Melbosrne
16 Morch 2006
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Phosphagenics Limited

Additional Shareholder Information

Rule 4.1¢. as at 16 March 2006

SHARES
Twenty Largest Holdings : Ordinary Fully Puid Shares. % lgsued Renking
Shares

Parcha Naminees Pty 11d 61,367,743 11.22% 1
Jogro Nosminees Pty Ltd 59,171,143 10.82% ?
HOBL Custody Nomineas(Ruskalin} Limired 48,257,304 §.83% 3
H Snook Pty Ltd 32,039,529 5.86% 4
AT Nominess Umited<Cash Incoma A/C> 27,938,656 5% 3
Computershiure Comparry Nominees Livited 18,197,531 6
Westpac Custodien Nomineas fimited 15,515,000 7
Zohavette Py Ltd 15,457 867 8
Onkmor Pry tid 15,299 926 9
Bedison Pry Ltd 12,027 650 10
Glancan Pty Lid 11,120,994 Y
Bruce Robert Butler 7,626,406 12
Calsey Pty Lid<The Dalsey Super Funf 4/C 4,877,323 13
Paradyce Pry Lid 6101123 14
Shynay Py Ltd 6,020,800 15
Decolond Heldings Pry Itd 5818454 14
Rigin Py 1 5,441.901 17
Ernest Szoke 5,084,270 18
Hethart Kozlov 4,236,892 19
(hase Martguge & Investments dnc. 3,844 542 20
Sub-Total - Top 20 Holders 347,444,894

- Other Holders 179,313,582
TOTAL ISSUED SHARES 546,758 476
VOIING RIGHTS
Shares © Oua vate par shars.
RANGE OF SHAREHQLDERS
Runge Holders Urits %
1-1000 278 105,322 0.0%
1601-5000 833 1,656,194 0.45%
500110000 132 5,857 892 1.08%
10001-100000 1771 57,802,335 10.57%
100001-0VER 339 480,7%6131 87.84%

3,953 546,738,474 100.00%

MARKETABLE PARCELS - SHARES

Holdings that aie fess than o marketoble parcal of the Company's ordinary fully paid shares s at 14 March 2006, ot  desing price of
£50.235 o shore, consisted of o tofal of 497 hefders eadh holding o parcel of fess than 2,128 shares ond covering an oggregete of 486,288 sharss.

BYYV-BACK

The Compoeny hos not uadertoken ey share buy-back plans during or since e yeor ended 37 December 2005




ANNUAL REPORT 2006

Phosphagenics Limited
B Additional Shareholder Information-ASX Listing

Rule 4.10. as at 16 March 2006
SHARES {Contmuep)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
The following Substantiol Shareholdings{'SSH'} hove been declared 1o the Lompany :

Holder Dectnration & Entitlement 1o Date of SSH Form Ho.
% No. securities Hotice

Qrbis Glabal Fquity Fund Lid 11.16 66,645,634 75.01.2006 604

Harry Rosen 1L 64,030,143 16.11.2005 604

Simon M West 11.22 61,367 143 16.11.2005 604

Harvey Snook 6.97 34,83%,579 04.01.2005 603

BROKING COMMISSIONS

Not upplicable following the voluntary sumender of the Compony's registration os o Pooled Development Fund i December 2004 and the serclossificotion
of the Company by Stendard & Poors s o blotechuicol company within the classifications of the official fists of the Austrafian Stack Exchange.

OPTIONS (Exerast price 20 s eaGH)

Twenty Largest Holdings © Expiring 7 June 2009 % lssued Runking
tatk Kerr £,737,500 |
Berkeley (onsultants Pty kd 4,397,500 ?
ANI Nominess Umited<Cosh fncome /G 3517212 3
Peter Laurence Stmifh 3,200,000 4
Hairy Rosen 2,675,000 5
Siman M Wast 2,675,600 b
Chase Pacific Fund lnc 2,000,000 7
Ross & Bing Copelond 1,754,824 8
Speculative Holdings Pry Ltd 1,400,000 9
Parahic Nominiees Pty Ld 1,250,600 10
Andraw L Vizord 1,200,000 N
Ferndale Worldwide Eimited 1,200,000 12
Hovey Snook 1,125,600 13
Parcha Nominess Pty Lid<Suparannuotion Fund A/C> 1,125,000 14
Rijem Hominess Pty tid 1110,625 1%
Noorunga Hominess Pty itd 1,100,000 14
Ross & Ging Copelond 574,736 17
Russell Sith 890,983 18
Hark Carrazzo 500,600 19
Lindmaork Investoents Py Lid<Steff Super fund /G 494,973 0
Sub-Total - 20 Lorgest Holders 38,328,353
Other Holdars 71,318,359

TOTAL ISSUED AND UNEXERCISED OFTIONS 16 MARCH 2006 59,646,712
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Phosphagenics Limited

Additional Shareholder Information-ASX Listing

Rule 4.10. as at 16 March 2006

YOTING RIGHTS

Options carmy no voting fights.

RANGE OF GPTION HOLBERS

Renge Holders Units %
1-1000 92 39,457 0.07%
16015000 398 1,135,074 1.90%
500110000 185 1,376,573 2.31%
16003160060 222 7,398,053 12.40%
100001-0VER 66 49,697 515 B3.32%

263 59,446,712 100.00%

MARKETABLE PARCELS - OPTIONS
Not upghicable os options are not the Company’s main securiy.
(OPTIONS - EXERCISE DATES

Each aption oy be exercisad on the first duy on which ADis(as defined in the Banking Act 1959 (Cth} ure apen for business in
Melboure, Victaria (excluding Seturdays and Sundays) 1n any manth in which the optien Ts granted to the dote of its expiry

inclusive or during the pericd of of least seven business days before the record dote for determining portidpation in any bonus ond/or
tash issues. Optionholders ore seferred to the terms ond conditicns of the June 2009 opfions for sddifienc! informution.

RESTRICTED SECURITIES/ UNGUGTED SECURTTIES

#s uf the dufe of this Report ;
There ora o unquoted securities other than options issued under the terms of the Company sharsholder epproved

Employee Shere Ogtion Plon("PLAN")

In August 2005, the Company grarted under the ferms & conditions of the PLAY, « tofdl of three milion August 2070 options with on
axercise price of AS0.2148 on onfion. The options muy be exercised of oy fime before the expiey date in 2010 offer they hove
becarne fully vestad. The thiee million options were gronted an the basis of six equal fanchas of 500,000 eptions, of whick 500,000
oplions vested upon giant, and thereafter o fusther 500,000 optians re to vest at tha end of successive sixmonthly periods.

As af the date of His Report & totel of one milfion opfions hove vested.

Renge of and Lurgest Holdings : Expiring 18 Avgust 2010 hs ot % lssued Ranking
16/3/05 {ptions

Dr S Wehb 3,000,600 100.00% |

VOTING RIGHTS

The ESOP Options carry no voting rights.
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THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT

If you do not understand it or are in any doubt about how to act, you should consult your stockbroker, solicitor,
accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

PHOSPHAGENICS

PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED

ABN 32 056 482 403

Notice of Annual General Meeting

and
Explanatory Memorandum
IMPORTANT DATES
Close for receipt of written questions to Auditor 500 p.m. Friday 19 May 2006
Close for recelpt of Praxy Forms 200 pm. Wednesday 24 May 2006
Determination of Entitlement to Vote 7.00pm. Wednesday 24 May 2006
Meeting 200pm, Friday 26 May 2008

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Phosphagenics Limited
will be held on Friday 26 May 2006
at the RACV Club, Level 2, 501 Bourke Street, Melbourne
commencing at 2.00 p.m.

if you are unable to attend the meeting, you are requested to complete the form of proxy enclosed with this Nofice of
Meeting and return it fo the Company either by mail or by facsimile as soon as possible and in any eventso itis
received by the Company Secretary at the place specified in the proxy form by 2.00 p.m. on Wednesday 24 May 2006.

When completing the Proxy Form your Board of Directors request that members make it a “directed” proxy
vote by Indicating for each resolution either a vote “For” or “Against” or “Abstain"”.



Phosphagenics Limited
ABN 32 056 482 403
Level 2, 90 William Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Telephone : (03) 9605 5500, Facsimile : (03) 9605 59989

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is given that an Annual General Meeting of the members of Phosphagenics Limited {“Company’) will
be held at the RACV Club, Level 2, 501 Bourke Street, Melbourne, on Friday 26 May 2006 at 2.00 p.m.

BUSINESS

The business of the meeting is:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

ltem 1

item 2

ltem 3

To receive and consider:

(a) the Balance Sheet and Notes thereto of the Company as at 31 December 2005

(b) the Income Statement and Notes thereto of the Company for the period ended on that date; and
{c) the related Report of the Directors and the Report of the Auditors.

Resolution No. 1 - Remuneration Report

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

That the Remuneration Report as set out in the Annual Report for the financial year ended
31 December 2005 be adopted

Note — the vote on this resolution is advisoty only and does not bind the Directors or the Company.
Resolution Nos. 2 & 3 - Election of Directors

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

Resolution No. 2

That Dr | G Pattison, a Director retiring by rotation in accordance with Clause 56 of the Constitution, be
re-elected a Director of the Company; and

Resolution No. 3

That Dr E Ogru, a Director appointed during the year and retiring in accordance with Clause 54 of the
Constitution be elected a Director of the Company.
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SPECIAL BUSINESS

ltem4 Resolution No. 4 - Ratification of Recent Shares Placements
To consider and, if thought fit, pass as an ordinary resolution:
That, in accordance with Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rule 7.4, the placement of an
aggregate of 46,875,000 ordinary shares issued on 14 November 2005 at 24.0 cents a share, under
the ferms and conditions set out in the Explanatory Memorandum, be ratified
be approved

item5 Resolution No. 5 — Adoption of New Constitution
To consider and, if thought fit, pass as a special resolution:
That the provisions contained in the printed document submitted to the meeting, and for the purpose of
identification signed by the Chairman, be approved and adopted as the Constitution of the Company in

substitution for and to the exclusion of the existing Constitution

ltem6 Any other business that may be properly brought forward at the meeting.

DATED 21 April 2006
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Mourice R Garbutt
Company Secretary
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INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

Proxies
1

2

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies.

A member who i entitled to cast two or more votes may appoint two proxies and may specify the proportion or number of votes
each proxy is appointed to exercise. If the member appoints two proxies and the appointment does not specify the proportion or
number of the member's votes each proxy may exercise, each proxy may exercise one half of the member's votes. If the
member appoints two proxies, neither may vote on a show of hands.

The Corparate Law Economic Reform Program (Audit Reform and Corporate Disclosure (ACT 2004 (Cth) ({CLERP 9"} was
passad by Parliament on 25 June 2004 and received Royal Assent on 30 June 2004.

The reforms covered by CLERP in the main, impact upon financial years commencing on 1 July 2004 and reporting thereon.
Some changes came into effect as of 1 July and 30 September 2004 allowing:
+  Notices of mestings to be disiributed electronically

« A member fo appoint a bedy corporate as well as an individual as their proxy and also that 2 body corporate
appointed as a proxy may then nominate an individual to exercise its powers at meetings.

A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

The proxy form must be signed by the member or the member's attorney. In the case of joint holdings all joint holders must sign
the proxy form.

Proxies given by corporations may be executed in accordance with Section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 or by the
appaintor's attorney duly authorised in writing. Should the constitution of 8 company permit the execution of documents without
using a common seal, the document must be signed by:

(a) 2 directors of the company; or
(b} a director and either a company secratary of the company or other authorised signatory; or
{c} for a proprietary company that has a sole director who is also the sole company secretary — that director and noting

both positions.

To be valid the form appointing the proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any} under which i is signed {or an
attested copy of it) may be lodged with the Company:

{a) in person at either of its Registered Office at Levet 2, 80 William Street, Melbourne 3000; or the Share Registrar —
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsford, Vic, 3067

{b) by faxing it fo the Registered Office on fax number (03) 9605 5888; or the Share Registrar on fax number
{03) 9473 2555

() by mail to the Registered Office at the above address or o the Share Registrar, Computershare Inveslor Sarvices

Pty Ltd, GPC Box 242, Mefbourne, Vic 3001 Australia
not later than 2.00 p.m. Wednesday 24 May 200€ being 48 hours before the holding of the meeting.
Unless a member specifically directs the proxy how to vote, the proxy may vole as he or she thinks fit or abstain from voting.

Accordingly, your Board of Directors urge membars, when completing the proxy form, to direct the proxy by indicating
a vote for sither “For” or “Agalnst” or "Abstain”,

Page 4



Entitlement to Vote

8

Exclusions:
+ there are no voling exclusions applicable to resolutions no's 1 10 3 {inclusive), and §

e voting exclusions will apply to resolution 4 such that any voles cast by participants of the Placement, andfor their
associates will be disregarded

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if

e itiscastby aperson as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with the directions on the proxy forms;
or

e itiscast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a persen who is entitied to vote, in accordance with directions
on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decided.

Pursuant o section 1074E{2){g) and regulation 7.11.37 of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors have determined that the
shareholding of each member for the purposes of ascertaining voting entittements for the Annual General Meeting will be as it
appears on the Register of Members at 7:00 p.m. Melboumne time on Wednesday 24 May 2008.

Questions and Comments by Members at the Meeting

10

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, a reasonable opportunity will be given to members — as a whole - fo ask
questions about or make comments on the management of the Company at the mesting.

Similarly, a reasonable opportunity will be given to shareholders — as a whole - to ask the Company's external Auditor,
Ernst & Young, questions reievant to:

{a) the conduct of the audit,

(b} the preparation and content of the Auditors' Report;

{c) the accounting policies adopted by the Company in relation to the preparation of its financial  statements; and
(d) the independsnce of the Audiior in retation to the conduct of the audit.

Shareholders may also submit a written question to Ernst & Young via the Company, no later than 5 businass days before
the Annual General Meeting if the quastion is relevant to the content of the Emst & Young Audit Report or the conduct of its
audit of the Company's Financial Report for the year ended 31 Decamber 2005.

Relevant written questions for Emst & Young must be received no later than 5.00 p.m. (Melbourne time) on Friday
19 May 2006. A list of those relevant writlen questions will be made available to shareholder aftending the AGM. Emst &
Young will either answer the questions at the AGM or table written answers to them at the AGM. if written answers are
tabled at the AGM, they will be made available fo shareholders as soon as practicable afier the AGM.

Please send any written questions for Ernst & Young ta the Company by facsimile (+613) 9605 5928; or to Phosphagenics
Limited, Level 2, 80 William Streel, Melboume Vic 3000 or by email to maarbutt@phosphagenics.com by no later than 5.00
p.m. {Melbourne time} on Friday 19 May 2006.

Definltions:

in this Nofice and supporting docementation:

“ABX" means Australian Stock Exchange Limited.
“Company” means Phosphagenics Limited ABN 32 (56 482 403.
“Listing Rules” means the Listing Rules of ASX.
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BUSINESS

Item 1

tem 2

ltem 3

Expfanatory Memorandum

Financial Statements and Reporis

The Financial Statements and Reports for the period ended 31 December 2005, which are set out in the Annual
Report, will be presented for members' consideration and discussion,

Remuneration Report

Resolution No 1

The Corporate Law Economic Reform Program (Audit Reform and Cerporate Disclosure ACT 2004{Cth)){"CLERP 97)
requires that 2 resolution be put to the members to adopt the Remuneration Report as disclosed in the Directors’
Report.

The vote on this resolufion is advisory only and non-binding.

The resolution gives the members the opportunity to ask questions or make comments concerning the Remuneration
Report during the mesting.

The Remuneration Report is set out on pages 22 - 24 of the Company’s 2006 Annual Report.
The report:

« explains the Board's policies in relaticn to the nature and level of remuneration paid to directors, secretaries and
senior managers within the Phosphagenics group;

« discusses the link between the Board’s policies and Phosphagenic's performance;

« provides a details summary of performance conditions, explaining why they were chosen and how performanca is
measured against them;

« identifies the companies that Phosphagenics' performancs is measured against for the purpase of its long term
incentive plan;

« sets out remuneration details for each director and for each member of Phosphagenic’s senior execulive
management ieam; and

« makes clear that the basis for remunerating non-executive directors is distinct from the basis for remunerating
executives, including exacutive directors.

A reasonable opportunity will be provided for discussion of the Remuneration Report at the mesting.

The Board unanimously recommends that shareholders vote in favour of Resolution No, 1.

Election of Directors

Resolution No 2 Retirement by Rotation

Dr lan Grant Pattison: Executive Director — Chief Operating Officer

Clause 56 of the Constitution and the Listing Rules require that, at each annua general meaeting, one third of the Directors
{or if their number is not a multigle of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one third) must retire from
office. The Directors retire by rotation with the Directors who have been the longest in the office since being appointed or
re-appointed being the Directors who must resign in any year. Each Director is enfitied to offer himself for re-election as a
Direcior at the annual general meeting which coincides with his refirement. Clause 73.7 of the Censtitution and the Listing

Rules provide that the Managing Director is exsmpted from the requirement 1o retire by rotation.

Dr Pattison, as a Director of the Company, will retire by rotation in accordance with the Constitution and Listing Rule LR
14.4 at the Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, has nominated for re-election as a Director of the Company.
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item 4

Resolution No 3 Retirement of Appointed Director
Dr Esra Ogru: Executive Diractor - Research & Development

Clause 54 of the Constitution provides that the Dirsctors may appoint any person as a Director tofill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the existing Directors. A Director appointed under clause 54 will hold office until the next anaual
general meeting of the Company when the Director may be re-glected but will not be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors who must retire by rotation.

Dr Cgru was appoinied as a Director of the Company in November 2008, As an appointee during the year Or Qgru
may only hold office untit the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, when, pursuant to Constitution Clause
54.2, she must relire. Being eligible, and having nominated for re-election, Dr Ogru now seeks election by membars
&s a Diractor of the Company.

A detailed “pen picture” of each of the ahove named diractors is sef out in the Annual Report as sent to
members with the Annual General Meeting documentation

Ratification of Recent Share Placements

Resolution No. 4

During the twelve month petied immediately preceding this Notice of Meeting dated 21 Aprif 2006 the Board of
Directers approved the issue without shareholder approval of 46,785,000 ordinary fully paid shares at 24.0 cenis a
share to overseas and domestic inslitutions and sophisticated investors through broking houses BBY Limited and
Collins Stewart Limited, on 14 November 2005 {"Placement”).

Participants in the above Placement were:

ANZ Nominees Lid{Cash Income A/C) 630,000
HSBC Custody Nomineas {Australia) Lid.(as nominee of Orbis Globat Equify Fund Limited) 28,386,667
HSBC Custody Nominees {Australiz) Lid.(as nominee of Orbis Capital Limited 8,330,000
Westpac Custodian Nominees Lid. (as nominee of Orbis SA Fund Limited) 1,180,000
Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd. {as nominee of Orbis SICAV Global Equify Fund) 2,040,000
Weslpac Custodian Nominees Ltd.{ as nominee of Orbis Optimal Global Fund} 450,000
Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd. { as nominee of Orbis MiS Orbis Global Equity Fund) 840,000
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,250,000
BBY Nominees Pty Lid 454,899
Jefferies Infernational {Nominees) Limited 250,000
Cameron Stockbrokers Ply Ltd <Placement A/C> 208,334
M G Passmore Nominess Ply Lid 200,000
Global Fair Trading Ply Lig 200,000
Gravcon Pty Lid 125,000
Beirne Trading Pty Lid 200,000
Colvic Pty Ld 120,000
Cogent Nominees Pty Lid 200,000
Cosf Nominees Limiled 2,000,000

45,785,000
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item 5

The funds raised through the Placement will enable the programme for clinical trials and product development to be
increased during the 2006 financial year.

The shares as set out above rank equally with all other ordinary shares in the Company.

Under Listing Rule 7.1, a listed company must obtain the approval of its shareholders before it can issue securities, if
the number of those securities plus the number of any securities issued in the previous 12 months, is more than 15% of
the number of issued securities at the start of that 12 month period.

Listing Rule 7.4 provides that an issue of securities by a listed company made without sharehelder approval under ASX
Listing Rule 7.1, is treated as having bean made with approval for the purpose of Listing Rule 7.1 if the issue did not
breach Listing Rule 7.1 and the approval of its ordinary shareholders is subsequently obtained.

The Placement did not breach ASX Listing Rule 7.1 at the time of the issue of the Placement shares.

Accordingly, the Directors seek ratification for the issue of the Placement shares to the persons listed above so that this
issue of shares does not count towards the 15% fimit on the number of secusities which can be issued by the Company
without approval of ordinary shareholders within a 12 monih period.

The passage of resolution 4 will restore the Company's capacity to raise further capital without shareholder approval in
accordance with Listing Rule 7.1. The Company has no prasent plans {o raise any further capital.

As noted in the Notice of Meeting and pursuant to Listing Rules 7.5.6 and 14.11, voting exclusions apply to this
resolution such that any votes cast by participants of the Placement andfor their associates will be disregarded.

Adoption of New Constitution
Resolution No. 5

Save for the inclusion of clause 59.8 of the Constilution at the 2001 Annual General Meefing of the Company the
Constitution of the Company is that as adopted by shareholders at the 1999 Annual General Meeting.

Since 1989 there have bean numerous changes in Australian corporate law and the Listing Rules
In addition, the Company ceased in December 2004 to be a registered Pooled Development Fund.

Your Directors propose and recommend for your consideration that the Company’s Constitution be updated to reflect
these changes as they affect a public, listed entity.

A copy of each of the existing and proposed Constitution decuments can be viewed at the Company’s registered office:

Level 2, 90 William Street
Melbourne Vic 3000

or viewed on the Company’s website at;

www.phosphagenics.com.au

VOTING:
Each resolution will be moved, seconded and open to the meeting for discussion.

Fallowing the completion of discussion the Chairman wilf inform the mesting of the details of the valid proxy voting
received by the Company.

The resolutions will then be put to the vote. In the first instance this will be by way of a show of hands.

Shauld a POLL be requested then all shares represented by the votes present at the meeting will be counted. The
majority of votes required to pass a resolution are as follows:

Crdinary Resolution (nos. 1 to 4{inclusive)] a simple majority of votes of members present either in person or by
proxy/representation.

Special Resclution (no. 5) a three quarter majority of votes of members present either in person or by
proxy/representative,

Page &



e o ‘ FIVAY 1 VIl
ABN 32 056 482 403 4 -

Al correspondence to;

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPD Box 242 Melbourne

Yictoria 3001 Australia

Enquiries {within Australia} 1300 850 505
{outside Austrafia} 87 3 9415 4000
Facsimile 61 3 9473 2555

Mark this box with an X' if you have made any changes to your addrass details (see reverss)

www.computershare.com
00001
SAM Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)
MR JOHN SMITH 1 .
FLAT 123
123 SAMPLE STREET
THE SAMPLE HILL
SAMPLE ESTATE
SAMPLEVILLE VIC 3030 |
L ltWe b £ Fh Limiled and enfited ¢ and vote hereby appoint T o v
s being a m::bzr!; of usphage.nlcs il a?s enliied to attend and vote hereby appaint :lf you are not appoenﬁng 1he Chatrman Df the Mee tmg as IS
e Chairman - i

“your proxy please wiite here the full name of the

of the M.eenng‘ R ‘individual or body corporate {excluding the registered
4 (markwithan X)) - Securityhoider) you are appointing as your proxy. -
- or fatfing the individual or body Coporate named, of if no individuat or bedy corporale is named, the Chainman of the Meeling, as myfour proxy to act genesally at the mesting on mylowr

"7 behalf and fo vole inaccordance with the folfowing directions (or If no directions have been given, as the proxy sees it} at the Annual Gensraf Mealing of Phosphagenics Limited to be held ™
al the Clubrooms of the RACY, Level 2, 501 Bourks Sireel, Melbourne on Friday 261h May at 2:00pm and al any adjourament of thet mesgling 777777 i

IMPORTANT

To enstire your proxy votes count, yous ghoulbd mark tis box.

If the Chaisman of the Mesting is your nominated pruxy, o may be appointed by defaull, and you have not diracted your peoxy how 1o vote on Resoluiion No. 4 below, please place a mark in his box,
By marking this box, you acknowladge that the Chalman may exerciss your proxy ven if he has an inlazest in the cultome of Resdiution No. 4 ang voles cast by him, athar than 5 pruxy hoider,
would bs disregarded because of that inferest. If you da not mark $his box, and you have nol directed your proxy how [0 vois, the Chaitman of the Meeting will nol cast your votes an Rescluiion No, 4
nd your vales wilf et be counted in compaiing the required majoriy if a poll is cafied on s Resolution. the Chaiman of the Meeting intends ko vole undireciad proxies in favour of this resolution.

Voting directions to your proxy - please mark fo indicate your directions

For Against  Abstain® For Against  Abstain®

Hem 1. To adopt the Remuneration

tem 5. Special Resolution To adopt
Report

the Constitution

Hem 2. To re-elect lan G Patlison a
Director of the Company

em 3. To slect Esra Ogru, a
Director of the Company

Hem 4. To ratify the Placement of
Shares

Resolutions 1 to 4 (inclusive} will be put as Ordinary Resolutlons; Resolution 5 is to be put as a Spectal Resclution.
* If you mark the Abstain box for a particular item, you are directing your proxy not 1o vote on your behalf on a show of hands or on a poll and your voles wiil nol be
counted in computing the reguired majority on a poli.

' f-Appomtmg a second. Proxy S
" IWe wish to appolnt & socond proxy |
Mark with an X if you -
wish {o appointa. ... l‘.ﬁANﬂ
. second PIOXY. oo

State the percentage of your voling r'tghts orthe *' -
nusmber of securties for this Proxy Form. oo -

PLEASE SIGN HERE  This section must be signed in accordance with the instructions overleaf to enable your directions o be implemented.

Individual or Securityholder 1 Securityholder 2 Securityholder 3

IndividualfSole Director and Dlredévrv . DirectbﬂCompany Secretary
Scle Company Secrefary

in addition to signing the Proxy form in the above box(es) please provide the information below in case we need fo contact you.

Contact Name Contact Daytime Telephone Date
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How to complete this Proxy Form

~»~.Thzs is your address as it appears on the company’s share regzster i thns mformanon is mcorreci please mark the box and make the correction .
- ‘on the form. Securityholders sponsored by a broker {in which case your reference number overfeaf will commenqe th an ‘x‘) shouid advise your.j :
..broker of any. changes Please nofe, you cannot change ownersmp of your: secumces usmg tbas form -

“Appointment of a Proxy . S .
" i you wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meetmg as your proxy, mark the box. 1£ the mdmdua! or body corporate you WISh io appmnt as your
_proxy is someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting please write the full name of that individual or body corporate in the space provided. ™
- If you leave this section blank, or your named proxy does not attend the meeting, the Chairman of the Meeting wilt be your proxy. ‘A _proxy need .
nothea secumyhoider of the company Bo. not write, the namg of me issuer company or the registered secuntyholder in the space

- You may direct your proxy how to vote by p!acmg a mark in one of the three boxes opposi!e each item of business. Aﬁ your secumses waEf be

“.voted in accordance with such a direction unfess you indicate only a portion of voting rights are {o be voled on any item by inserting the "™ j :
“percentage or number of securities you wish to vole in the appropnate box or boxes. If you do not mark any of !he boxes on a gfven ifem, -

-_.‘Appomtment ofa Second Proxy s R i
_ . You are entitled o appoint up o two proxies io affend the meetmg and vote ona poii i you wlsh tc appomt a second proxy, an addmonal .
;_Proxy Form may be obtamed by teiephomng the company_s share reg:stry or you may oopy this. form ' - o

~Te appmnt a second proxy you must: e T Tt Ve L RN St
-{a) - - indicate that you wish {0 appomt 8 second proxy by markmg the box T I -
.~ 'on each of the first Proxy Form and the second Proxy Form state the percentage of your volmg nghis or number of securmes -
. applicable {0 that form. If the appoiniments do not specify the percentage or number of voies that each prexy may exercnse gach
T ‘Iproxy may exercise haif your votes. Fractions of vctes w:it be dlsregarded e . 4 RRER.

.. feturn both forms together in the same enveiope

.where the heidmg !S in one name, the hoider must s1gn L

3~‘; where the hoidmg |s m more man one name, aﬁ of the secuntyhotders shouid 5|gn ’

. to ngn under Power oi Aftomey, you must have already lodged this documem wnth the regnstry tf you have not
. ~previously lodged this documem for noiatwn please aﬁach a certmed photecopy of the Powar of Aﬁomey to thus “
;-fnrmwhenyou retun It. . e S, 4 DRI

'jjwhere the company has a So!e Dnrector who is aiso the So!e Company Secretary, th:s form must be sngned by

--that person. if the company (pursuant to section 204A of the Corporations Act 2001) does not have 2 Company ‘
"Secretary, a Sole Director can also sign alone. Otherwise this form must be ssgned by a Direclor jeintly with either. "~
another Dn:ecter or a Company Secretary Ptease mdzcate the off ice he!d by srgmng m the appropnate place o

;".h‘ a represemahve of a corporate Secumyhoider or proay Is 1o aftend the meeﬂng the appropnale *Cerstificate of Appomlmem of Corporate
-Representative” should be praﬁuced pnor to admxssmn. A form of !he certifzcaie may be obtamed from the company's share regx.,try o at
- WL computershare com.." L ,

" This Proxy Form (and any Power of Attomey under whnch ftis szgned) must be recewed at an address given bekow not later than 48 hours
. before the commencemenz of the meetmg ai 2; OOpm on Frzday 261h May Any Proxy Form rece:ved afie,r !hat nme w:JJ noi be % zd for lhe
._scheduled meeﬂng ; . - . : - = .

...'Please nore tha! voimg excluszons app!y to Resokutfon Na 4 as sst out in Ihe Nobce of Meeimg dated 21 Apnl 2006

) ""“Memhers are urged to complele any one of the “FOR" “AGA&NST” OR “ABSTAIN’
"voted in all czrcumstaaces - 3

Documents may be lodged using the reply paid envelope or:

IN PERSON Registered Office - Level 2, 90 William Strest, MELBOURNE VICTORIA 3000

8hare Registry - Computershare invesior Services Pty Limited, Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsford VIC 3067 Australia
BY MAL Reglistered Office - Levet 2, 90 Wiiliam Street, MELBOURNE VICTORIA 3000

Share Reglstry - Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, GPO Box 242, Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia
BY FAX Registered Office 61 3 9605 5928

Share Registry 61 3 9473 2555 S35 . A



PHOSPHAGENICS
28 April 2006

The Manager
Company Announcements Office
The Australian Stock Exchange Limited

Dear Sirs

PHOSPHAGENICS & NESTL!EI NUTRITION SIGN AGREEMENT FOR
DEVELOPMENT OF PHOSPHA E¥ FOR FOODS AND BEVERAGES

Melbourne, Australia and Vevey, Switzerland, 28 April 2006 Phosphagenics Limited
(“Phosphagenics”), the Australian Stock Exchange {ASX : POH) and the London Stock
Exchange’s Alternative Investment Market (AIM : PSG) listed pharmaceutical and
nutraceutical company, and Nestlé Nutrition, 2 unit of Nestié 8. A. the world's biggest food and
beverage company, today announce that they have entered into a research agreement fo
develop Phosphagenics’ Phospha E® for use in Nestlé Nutrition's products. Products containing
this superior form of vitamin E have the potential to play a role in the prevention and treatment
of metabolic syndrome.

Under the terms of the agreement, Nestlé Nutrition will contribute some of the funding towards
a full dose-response preclinical study of Phospha E®, before full scale evaluation of the product
in humans. Phospha E® has been shown in animal trials to lower blood cholesterol and
triglyceride levels and to prevent or reduce arterial plaque formation, as well as inhibiting the
main inflammatory pathways involved in metabolic syndrome.

In return, Nestlé Nutrition has obtained an option to license Phospha E® for its use in nutritional
products that target the prevention and treatment of metabolic syndrome. Upon completion of
the preclinical trials, Nestlé Nutrition may exercise its option, upon payment of an option fee.
The agreement requires that Nestlé Nutrition launch & produci within 12 months of regulatory
approval of the product and claims, and that Phosphagenics will be responsible for the
manufacture of and sale to Nestle Nutrition of Phospha E”.

Harry Rosen, Managing Director of Phosphagenics, said “Phosphagenics is delighted to have
signed this agreement with Nestlé Nutrition, which builds on our collaborative work so far. As
one of the world’s largest nutrition companies, Nestlé Nutrition is the ideal partner to exploit
the potential of Phospha E” in nutritional products”.

Yours faithfully
Phosphagenics Limited

W
l.’/ e \-—\.,

Mourice Garbutt

Company Secretary
pohiasxnestle 28 04 06

Phosphagenics Limited
ACN 056 482 403 ABN 32 056 482 403
Level 2, 90 William Street Melbourne VIC 3000
Telephone: 61 3 8605 5800 Facsimile: 61 3 9605 5999
Web page: www.phosphagenics.com Email info@phosphagenics.com




About metabolic syndrome

Metabolic syndrome is a multifactorial risk factor for cardiovascular disease and diabetes.
The root causes of metabolic syndrome are overweight/obesity, physical inactivity, and
genetic factors. It is estirated that about 27% of adults in the US have metabolic syndrome
and that one in three overweight or obese people in the US have this condition. The
condition is being diagnosed with increasing frequency.

About Phosphagenics

Phosphagenics is a pharmaceutical and putraceutical company with a diversified portfolio of
technologies encompassing drug delivery, drug enhancement, and active ingredients for
dietary supplements, functional foods and personal care products. It is based in Melbourne,
Australia. Ifs shares are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (POH) and the London Stock
Exchange's Alternative Investment Market (PSG). Further information regarding
Phosphagenics can be found at www.phosphapenics.com.

About Nestlé Nutrition

Nestlé Nutrition is an autonomous business operation within the Nestlé group that
manages and develops the group’s core natrition business. Through science-based
nutrifion products and services, Nestlé Nutrition will help enhance the quality of
peeple's lives by supporting health and providing care for specific consumer groups
with special nutrition needs at every stage of life. Its product portfolio — covering infant
nufrition, healtheare nutrition, and performance nutrition - includes such trusted and
well-recognised brands as: NAN, LACTOGEN, NESLAC, NUTREN, PEPTAMEN and
POWERBAR.

For further information please contact:
Australia:
Phosphagenics Limited : Harry Rosen, Managing Director

Telephone: +61 3 9685 5900

Public Relations Exchange (“*PRX”): Jonathon Geddes
Telephone: +61 3 9607 4500



